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The Appeals Chamber of the International Criminal Tribunal for the Prosecution of Persons
Responsible for Genocide and Other Serious Violations of International Humanitarian Law
Committed in the Territory of Rwanda and Rwandan Citizens responsible for genocide and other
such violations committed in the territory of neighbouring States between 1 January and
31 December 1994 ("the Appeals Chamber" and "the Tribunal" respectively) is seized of appeals
lodged by Jean-Paul Akayesu ("Akayesu" or "the Appellant") and the Prosecutor against the
Judgment and the Sentencing Judgment rendered by Trial Chamber I of the Tribunal ("the Trial
Chamber") on 2 September 1998 and 2 October 1998 respectively in the case of The Prosecutor v.

Jean-Paul Akayesu, Case No. ICTR-96-4-T. ("The Judgment" and "the Sentencing Judgment"
respectively).~

1. Having heard the parties and their submissions, the Appeals Chamber

HEREBY RENDERS ITS JUDGMENT.

1 Judgment, The Prosecutor v. Jean-Paul Akayesu, Case No. ICTR-96-4-T, 2 September 1998 and Sentencing
Judgment, The Prosecutor v. Jean-Paul Akayesu, Case No. ICTR-96-4-T, 2 October 1998. A list of designations and
abbreviations used in this Appeals Judgment is included in Annex C.



Oase o.
Page 7

I. INTRODUCTION

A. Trial Proceedings

3. The original indictment charged Akayesu, as bourgmestre of Taba commune, Murehe

secteur, with involvement in criminal acts committed between 7 April and the end of June 1994 in
this commune.("the original indictment") Akayesu was charged under Article 6(1) of the Statute
(individual criminal responsibility, with 12 counts of crimes within the jurisdiction of the Tribunal
as follows: Genocide, punishable by Article 2(3)(a) of the Statute (count 1); Complicity 
Genocide, punishable by Article 2(3)(e) of the Statute (count 2); Crimes against Humanity,
punishable by Article 3(a), 3(b) and 3(0 (counts 3, 5, 7, 9, and 11); Direct and Public Incitement 
Commit Genocide, punishable by Article 2(3)(c) of the Statute (count 4); violations of Article 
common to the Geneva Conventions of 1949, as incorporated in Article 4(a) of the Statute
(counts 6, 8, 10 and 12).2

4. On 17 June 1997, the original indictment was amended with three additional counts of
sexual violence, violence and murder perpetrated 
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8. Akayesu was found individually criminally responsible under Article 6(1) alone. 
Sentencing Judgment dated 2 October 1998, Akayesu was sentenced to several terms of
imprisonment ranging from 10 years to life in respect of the counts he was convicted of. The Trial
Chamber decided that each sentence should be served concurrently and therefore directed that
Akayesu should serve a single sentence of life imprisonment.

B. Proceedings on Appeal4

9. Both Akayesu and the Prosecutor appealed from the Judgment. In addition, Akayesu lodged
an appeal against the Sentencing Judgment.

10. The grounds of appeal raised by Akayesu can be summarized as follows:5

°

2.
3.
4.

.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.
11.

Akayesu was denied the right to be defended by Counsel of his own choice.
Akayesu was denied the right to competent Counsel.
The Tribunal was biased and lacked independence.
Absence of the Rule of law/Errors invalidating the finding of guilty.

i.

ii.
iii.

Unlawful amendment of the original indictment;
Improper treatment of prior statements;
Failure to apply the "beyond a reasonable doubt", standard of proof;
substantive errors of fact;
Out-of-court evidence;
Other issues;

(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)
(g)
(h)

Judicial notice of United Nations reports;
Interpretation;
Non conforming transcripts;
Disclosure of evidence;
Expert witnesses;
Witness Protection;
Unlawful treatment of defence witnesses and court interference;
Informal conversations between a judge and a witness before the
Tribunal.

Total absence of the Rule of Law.
Improper treatment of hearsay evidence.
Irregularities during direct examination and cross-examination.
Unlawful disclosure of defence witness statements.
Letter of Witness DAAX to the judges.
Unlawful detention.6
Appeal against the sentencing judgment.

4 The Appellant proceedings are detailed in Annex A.
5 In general, the grounds of appeal are set out here as presented by Akayesu and grouped by the Appeals Chamber.
Annex B provides a detailed presentation.
6 This is a "proposed ground of appeal." See, in the relevant section below, Tenth Ground of Appeal.
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11.

(i) Denial of right to counsel during pre-sentencing hearing
28 September 1998;

(ii) Denial of fight to counsel during the 2 October 1998 hearing;
(iii) Unreasonable and unwarranted sentence.

on
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within the context of an appeal which 
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18. Can the Appeals Chamber consider all the alleged errors of law? Article 24 (1) covers prima
facie only errors of law invalidating the decision, that is, errors 



Case No.

Page 13

21. To that end, it may be useful to recall the rationale behind to 
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other hand, it may deem it necessary to pass on issues of general importance if it finds that their
resolution is likely to contribute substantially to the development of the Tribunal’s jurisprudence.
The exercise of such a power is not contingent upon the raising of grounds of appeal which strictly
fall within the ambit of Article 24 of the Statute. In other words, it is within its discretion. While
the Appeals Chamber may find it necessary to address issues, it may also decline to do so. In such
a case (if the Appeals Chamber does not pass on an issue raised), the opinion of the Trial Chamber
remains the sole formal pronouncement by the Tribunal on the issue at bar. It will therefore carry
some weight.

24. Therefore, the Appeals Chamber will not consider all issues of general significance. Indeed,
the issues raised must be of interest to legal practice of the Tribunal and must have a nexus with the
case at hand.

25. In the case at bar, issues raised by the Prosecution concem, in the main: firstly, the
application by the Trial Chamber of the " ’public agent or Government representative test’ to
determine persons who may be held responsible for serious violations of Article 3 and Additional
Protocol II thereto";33 secondly, the requirement to prove a discriminatory intent for a crime
stipulated or or 
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the 
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submissions, detailed arguments or 
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42. The Appeals Chamber notes that in the Prosecution’s 



CaseNo. 1 "
Page 20 0 ~ f~ ~ k.,-~





Case No.

Page 22

51. Relying on the Tribunal’s case law, Akayesu contends that the right to counsel of one’s own
choosing must be real and effective.75 Under Article 20 of the Statute, which is "constitutional in
nature",76 any person accused of such serious crimes must be able to freely choose counsel to

represent him throughout the proceedings. It is Akayesu’s submission that, such an interpretation is,
in particular, supported by the practice before the Nuremberg Tribunal77 with respect to assignment
of counsel to the accused and, are also a reflection of international law, including the provisions of
the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights.78 ("The ICCPR")"

52. Akayesu also points out inconsistencies in the Registry’s conduct. Indeed, he asserts that at
the 31 October 1996 hearing, the Tribunal denied him assistance by more than one counsel but two
months later, "in contravention of the Rules", the Registrar assigned him two counsel who were,
unknown to him.79 He submits further that the delay in the trial is not attributable to him, but rather
to the Tribunal’s management services and to the Prosecution, which was late 
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being on the Defence team,85 and secondly because he had never been informed that Mr. Scheers
had been struck off the list of assignable counsel.86

55. Lastly, citing to the Kambanda Appeals Judgment, Akayesu contends that the Appeals
Chamber can in no event hold that he waived the right to raise the issue of the violation of 
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nevertheless refused to entertain his requests. Akayesu submits further that he was fully capable of
representing himself and that the Trial Chamber could not force him to be represented by counsel.93

59. In the Prosecution’s submission it is up to the Trial Chamber to decide whether it is
necessary for an accused to be represented by counsel.94 The Prosecution argues that in the case at
bench the Trial Chamber granted Akayesu leave 

the 

submission 
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Chamber in Tadic.los He asserts that the question of incompetence of Counsel, must be linked to

the principle of equality of arms.106

70. Akayesu submits that the legal tests applicable for bringing an appeal based on
incompetence of Counsel should be defined in light of ICTY Appeals Chamber case law and the
principles generally applied in Common Law read together.107 Akayesu submits that the approach
adopted by some Anglo-Saxon national jurisdictions, which prefer "not to assess and evaluate
[misconduct of Counsel] on a qualitative basis, but rather [consider] the effect of such misconduct
on the fairness of the trial is relevant."t08 It is the Appellant’s submision that the misconduct and
negligence by his Counsel should also be considered in light of the effects on the fairness of the
trial.109

71. Citing ICTY Appeals Chamber case law, in particular in the Tadic (additional evidence), the
Prosecutor submits that the Appellant has the burden of proving, on the one hand, gross
professional misconduct by his Counsel, and on the other hand, the existence of reasonable doubt as
to a possible miscarriage ofjustice.ll0 In the Prosecution’s submission the reference to the approach
adopted by Anglo-Saxon national jurisdictions, which in its arguement apply "a different test"111
shows the Appellant’s willingness to disregard the first part of the test established by ICTY
Appeals Chamber. Yet, Akayesu has failed to show that their exists in the instant case "cogent
reasons [...] requiting a departure from a previous decision."112 Therefore, the Prosecutor argues
that the tests applicable in the instant are those laid down by ICTY Appeals Chamber.

(b) Evidence of incompetence of Counsel

72. On 22 August 2000, the Appeals Chamber rejected an affidavit by Akayesu on the
incompetence of his counsel. Notwithstanding the rejection of said document, Akayesu claims that
he can prove that his rights were violated by relying on two letters from him to the President of the
Tribunal dated 9 January 1997 and 18 September 1998 respectively.113

73. Akayesu alleges:

105 Indeed ICTY Appeals Chamber held that: "The unity of identity between client and counsel is indispensable to the

workings of the Intemational Tribunal. If counsel acted despite the wishes of the Appellant, in the absence of protest at
the ti
(the ) Tj
100 Tz
1 0nte30 TzY00 Tz
(the ) Tj
100 T0 Tf
1 (in ) Tjnsel, indispea8Tz
1 0 0 1 543 253 Tm
3 Tr 100 Tz
0 0 0 1 363 562 Tm
3 Tr 100bkaz
1 0 0 1 458 384 Tm
3 Tr 100 Tz562 Tm
3 Tr 100bkaz
1 0 0 feb Tz
(72.i516 239 Tm
3 Tr 100 Tz
(pr Tz
(evidence), ) Tj feb Tz
(72.i5a84 0 0hlat Tjtm
1000 Tz
(1998 ) Tj
100 Tz
3pg Tjt1 0 0 1 481 534 Tm
3 Tr 100 Tz
(to ) Tj
15ues) Tj
100 Tz
/F145 356 Tm
3 Tr 100 Tz
(9100 Tz
(indispelh64bs) Tj
100 C 481 534 Tm
3 Tr 100 Tz
(to ) T8Tj
12t43olp98 Tm
3 Tr 100D100 Tz
(and ) Tj
100 Tr T8Tj
12t43olp98 Tm
3 Tr  481 534 Tm
3 Tr 10ii2oeebAc94p Tj
100 Tz
/F145 356 Tm
3 Trs13j
100 Tz
/F145 356 Tm
3 
1 0 0 1 195 356 The ) Tj
100 Tz
1 0nte3070 Tm
3 Tr 100 Tz
(the )0e ) Tj
100 Tz
1 0nte3ha370 Tm
3 Tr 100 Tz
(tha ) T
(to ) Tj
15ues) Tj
1cquiesc507 Tm
3 Tr 100 Tz
(by )  Tj feb Tz
(72.i5a84 0ev6 Tm
3 
1 0 0 1 195 356) Tjj feb Tz
(72.i5a84 0i70 Tm
3 Tr 100 Tz
(the)  ) Tj
100 Tz
3pg Tjt1  0 1 72 239 Tm
1 0 0 1 72 239 Tm
3 Tr 100 Tz
(negl
3 Tr 100 z
(72.i5a84 0 384 Tm
3 Tr 100 Tz
(doced ) Tj
100 Tz
1 0 0 1 270 Tm
3 Tr 100 Tz
(the ) T) Tj
100 Tz
1 0 0 1 reluc9 46
1 6 Tm
3 Tr 100 Tz
(January) Tj
100 Tz
1 0 0 1 A70 Tm
3 Tr 100 Tz
(prov67y) Tj
100 Tz
1 0 0 1 exc1 3 384 Tm
3 Tr 100 Tz
(of e ) ) Tj
100 Tz
1 0 0 1  216 694 Tm
3 Tr 100 Tz
(faile3 Tr 100 z
(72.i5a84 0wh 370 Tm
3 Tr 100 Tz
(viol67y) Tj
100 Tz
1 0 0 1 th 370 Tm
3 Tr 100 Tz
(viol9 T) Tj
100 Tz
1 0 0 1 630 Tm
3 Tr 100 Tz
(the  Tz
 Tj
100 Tz
1 0 0 1 27658 Tm
3 Tr 100 Tz
(Angecte
 Tj
100 Tz
1 0 0 1 lu108 2) Tj
100 C 481 534 Tm
37y) Tj
100 Tz
1 0 0 1 42 549 Tm
3 Tr 100 Tz
(as)383 Tr 100 z
(72.i5a84 05 630 Tm
3 Tr 100 Tz
(the 03T) Tj
100 Tz
1 0 0 1 6n 0 1 269 Tm
3 Tr 100 Tz
(in ) Tj
 Tj
100 Tz
1 0 0 1 ma98 Tm
3 Tr 100 Tz
(Akay6 T) Tj
100 Tz
1 0 0 1 ha370 Tm
3 Tr 100 Tz
(tha 8 T) Tj
100 Tz
1 0 0 1 b 253 Tm
3 Tr 100 Tz
(clicond) Tj
100 Tz
1 0 0 1 cau 699 Tm
3 Tr 100 Tz
(on) T T) Tj
100 Tz
1 0 0 1 253 Tm
3 Tr 100 Tz
(the) Tj
100 Tz
/F1 12 Tf
1 0 0 1 68 603 Tm
1 0 0 1 73 253 Tm
3 T0 100 Tz
(Tribu3 T0 100 Tj
15ues) Tj
1ccu 699 Tm
3 Tr 100 Tz
(on)dencT0 100 Tj
15ues) Tj
522 Tm
3 Tr 100 Tz
(Anglo0cT0 100 Tj
15ues) Tj
1 0 06 Tm
3 Tr 100 Tz
(9 ) Tj
T0 100 Tj
15ues) Tj
0 0 1 136 38."4 Tm
3 Tr 100 Tz
(Notwi0cT0 100 Tj
15ues) Tj
"D0 0 1 3Tr 100bkaz
1 0 0 feb Tz2cT0 100 Tj
15uessubm1ncT0 100 Tj
15uesbrin64cT0 100 Tj
15uesthe 24cT0 100 Tj
15uesthe Tz
(0 100 Tj
15ues) Tj
4bs0 100 Tj
15uesby 501cT0 100 Tj
15ues

Appe
3 1r 100 Tj
15uesthe86 1r 100 Tj
15ues

u

n

i

a

r

t

u

1

r

 

1

0

0

 

T

j




1

5

u

e

s

a

r

g

l

e

d

 

1

r

 

1

0

0

 

T

j




1

5

u

e

s

1

9

9

8

2

 

1

r

 

1

0

0

 

T

j




1

5

u

e

s

I

n

d

e




1

0

0

1

r

 

1

0

0

 

T

j




1

5

u

e

s

c

a

s

e

3

2

 

1

r

 

1

0

0

 

T

j




1

5

u

e

s

A

k

a

y

e

s

u

1

r

 

1

0

0

 

T

j




1

5

u

e

s



Case No. ~

Page 28

(1) Counsel’ s lack of preparationl~4 (failure to study the indictment, lack of a strategy, failure 
retain investigators, etc.~t0 as well as other alleged errors~6 tend to raise doubts as to the existence
of injustice. Akayesu contends that :

" [...] a trial of such importance, which is ill prepared, starts without Defence witnesses, without
investigators, without a Defence strategy, can only amount to a tra
1009sp21 50 Tz
1 0 0 1 391 692 Th6uch 
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proceedings of the trial.’h23 Akayesu argues that such an arrangement "proved" ineffective during
the examination of General Dallaire.n4

(5) Lateness and failure of Counsel to appear in court. 125 By their repeated lateness and
absences, Counsel engendered "a feeling of injustice"n6 and undermined the fundamental principle
of "unity between client and counsel", yet upheld by ICTY Appeals Chamber.127

(6) Failure to prepare the Appellant’s testimony with him and to rebut the Prosecutor’s
submissions.128 Akayesu submits that the Trial Judgment contains references to certain allegations
or charges respecting which he did not testify.n9 Akayesu contends that the failure to prepare his
testimony is a fundamental error on the part of his Counsel, particularly in light of the very
prejudicial lack of defence witnesses.130

(7) Failure to follow the Appellant’s instructions and to provide him with quality defence.13~
Akayesu submits that "appropriate and often pertinent questions were never put to the Prosecutor’s
witnesses in spite of his suggestion and appeals to Counsel to do s0".~32

(8) Failure to inform the Appellant of their management of the case.133 Akayesu contends that
he was kept "in the dark concerning the management and organization of his case and that he was
unaware of the objectives and strategy pursued by Counsel, or their line and grounds of defence, the

~23 Akayesu’s Reply, para. 49. In general, see Akayesu’s Brief, Chapter 3, paras. 16 to 20. Akayesu argues that the

system put in place by his Counsel was "adopted without his knowledge, was against his wishes since both counsel
were expected to work together 
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e
s
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stakes involved in the trial, the state of the law or the rationale behind their actions."134 Akayesu
adds that his Counsel "participated, unbeknownst to him, in the status conference of
29November 1996, in the hearing of 23 January 1997 and in the status conference of
6 February 1998."135

(9) Failure to raise timely objections.136

(10) Failure to locate defence witnesses (to procure their statements and to call them to testify).
Akayesu blames his Counsel for not requesting that one or more investigators be appointed to assist
them in their investigations."137 Thus, Akayesu intends to prove "negligence and carelessness" on
the part of his Counsel and to show that there was no opportunity for him to make his case. 138

to 

Failure of 
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wishes of the Appellant, in the absence of protest at the time, and barring special circumstances which
do not appear, the latter must be taken to have acquiesced, (...)-.152

78. In other words, the Statute of the Tribunal affords an 
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accused had a defence."155 Such extracts from the Trial Judgment only define the scope and

limitations of Akayesu’s testimony. That the Accused did not respond to certain allegations does
not constitute evidence of incompetence of his Counsel.

83. Lastly, with respect to the transcript extracts cited by Akayesu,156 the Appeals Chamber
finds that they clearly do not offer evidence of gross misconduct.157 Furthermore, it should be
noted, that Akayesu failed to quote some extracts in their proper context and that sometimes the
transcripts submitted to the Appeal Chamber offer contradictory information. For example, while
the absence of Akayesu’s Counsel from Court at the start of the 19 March 1998 hearing has been
established, and while it was categorically condemned by the President of the Tribunal, it would
also appear that, as stated by the President of the Tribunal that "since the beginning" of the trial,
Akayesu’s Counsel had" shown a sense of cooperation."lss With respect to the conduct of Counsel
during trial, for example, their alleged failure to prepare adequately for effective examination and
cross-examination, or to object to the admission of hearsay evidence, the Appeals Chamber finds
that there is no evidence that the possible omissions by the Defence were not part of a strategy
agreed on beforehand with Counsel. Similarly, where Akayesu asserts that Counsel failed to raise
certain matters because of incompetence, t59 there is no reason to conclude that Counsel did not
strategically choose to do so with the agreement of the Accused. Consequently, Counsel’s failure
to raise any issues or to raise objectionslr0 is not proof of incompetence. The Appeals Chamber
further finds that, in any case, it was not incumbent upon the Trial Chamber to make up for
Counsel’s failure to react which is a priori deliberate. The Trial Chamber may intervene only

where it observes offensive or prejudicial conduct.~61

84. For 
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(i) Akayesu’s submissions

90. Firstly, Akayesu submits that remarks made by the judges both in public and in private
suggest a lack of impartiality on their part and constitute a violation of their duty to be independent
and impartial.169 He further alleges the existence of "pressure and special arrangements" that
tended to undermine the independence of the Tribunal. Akayesu cites in support of that assertion
the Judgment of 31 March 2000 rendered by the Appeals Chamber in the Barayagwiza case, which

he claims "does not provide a remedy for the interference, pressure and arrangements that prevailed

in the past [...]"170 Finally, Akayesu points out the "defamatory and false statements made by the
Registrar [which] constitute a serious violation of his obligation to exercise "judicial restraint"; they
undermine the neutrality, impartiality and independence of the Tribunal".m

(ii) Discussion

91. As held by ICTY Appeals Chamber, there is a presumption of impartiality that attaches to a
Judge or a Tribunal and, consequently, partiality must be established on the basis of adequate and
reliable evidence. On this point, the Appeals Chamber endorses the standards of admissibility of an
allegation of partiality as set out by ICTY Appeals Chamber in Furundzija, whereby:

"[...] there is a presumption of impartiality which attaches to a Judge. This presumption has been
recognized in municipal law.’’m
[...] in the absence of evidence to the contrary, it must be assumed that the judges of the International
Tribunal can disabuse their minds of any irrelevant personal beliefs or predispositions. It is for the
Appellant to adduce sufficient evidence their any APtn APtn 
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93. Akayesu submits that the Tribunal is prosecuting only the "losers" in the Rwandan conflict
by failing to prosecute the perpetrators of "crimes of extermination of the Hutu" who enjoy
"complete immunity" from prosecution.174 He submits that such failure exhibits partiality in the
punishment of crimes committed in Rwanda during the relevant period. He compares this to the
contrary situation before ICTY where persons from "both camps", including Croat leaders, have
been prosecuted.

(ii) Discussion

94. The Appeals Chamber that of such 
the

the 
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98. Akayesu argues that the very functioning of the Tribunal suggests that he could not have
had a fair trial. The difficulties encountered in conducting investigations were even recognized by
the Prosecution during the trial179 and the specific example of the problems concerning Witness
DAAX, show that it was impossible for Akayesu to have a fair trial since the Witness himself was
arrested and imprisoned in Rwanda after his testimony.180 In addition, Akayesu submits that the
Tribunal cannot properly function when it does not have the power to issue subpoenas and compel
witnesses to appear before it.~81

99. Akayesu further submits that the Trial Chamber’s approach to the Rwandan conflict is
erroneous. The Appeals Chamber notes, however, that most of the arguments put forward in
support of such an allegation were not reiterated by Akayesu in his Brief. 182 Therefore, the Appeals
Chamber will not consider the said arguments. Akayesu’s Brief containg only the argument that the
Tribunal made erroneous findings concerning the incident that sparked off the conflict in
April 1994, to wit the crash of the presidential plane. Indeed, Akayesu submits that the Tribunal
erred in its Judgment by "referring on nine occasions, without exception, to the missile attack on
the Presidential plane which took place on 6 April 1994, as a "crash", [whereas] it was not a crash,
but a ground to air missile attack. That attack, which sparked off the political and interethnic
conflict which began in April 1994, was wrongly characterized thereby affecting the overall
assessment of the evidence.183

(ii) Discussion
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therefore, cannot be duly considered by the Appeals Chamber.
rejects this last argument.

Therefore, the Appeals Chamber

101. Consequently, and given the inadequacy of the 
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,.
committed).204 The Prosecution further submits that a large number of national jurisdictions’ailow
amendments of indictments at trial.205 Furthermore, the amendments to the indictment were neither
substantial nor totally new.206

109. Lastly, the Prosecution acknowledges that Akayesu’s Counsel did not cross-examine
Witnesses J and H as reflected in the Judgment. However, the Trial Chamber, is assessing the
evidence, questioned the witnesses about the acts 
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investigations and highlighted the particularly difficult security conditions prevailing in Rwanda at
the time.214 Furthermore, the Prosecution filed sufficient material in support of its request.215
Consequently, the Trial Chamber properly granted leave to amend the indictment albeit belatedly.

121. As regards the fact that it was 





126. In the Prosecution’s submission the latter arguments concern the taking of evidence and fall
outside the scope of this ground of appeal. They should therefore be disregarded.226 The Appeals
Chamber disagrees. It is not the case that each and every argument in support of a ground of appeal
should be set out in the notice of appeal, which often is very brief. Clearly, it all depends on the
facts of the case in case at bar, the Appeals Chamber finds that the issues are sufficiently linked for
the Appeals Chamber to consider them as being raised in support of the main ground mentioned
above.227

127. As to the remedy sought, Akayesu submits that the error committed 



though on one or two occasions, 
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Chamber clarified this decision following a Prosecution motion,243 by stating that, this was sought
specifically "so as to enable the Tribunal to better follow the arguments put forward by the parties
and to monitor any possible contradictions".244

131. In the Judgment, the Trial Chamber initially set out what it referred to as "general
evidentiary matters of concern".245 By way of introduction, it indicated having "attached probative
value to each testimony and each exhibit individually according to its credibility and relevance to
the allegations at issue".246 Having noted that both parties often relied on pre-trial statements in
cross-examination, it found:

In many instances, the Defence has alleged inconsistencies and contradictions between the
pre-trial statements of witnesses and their evidence at trial. The Chamber notes that these
pre-trial statements were composed following interviews with witnesses by investigators of

witnesses 
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presented is credible. The Appeals Chamber therefore has to give a margin of deference to the Trial
Chamber’s evaluation of the evidence presented at trial.249

133. In the case at bar, the Trial Chamber observed that it was faced frequently with allegations
of inconsistency between prior statements and live testimony. It found generally that "[i]n the
circumstances, the probative value attached to the [prior] statements is, in the Chamber’s view,
considerably less than direct sworn testimony before the Chamber".250 The Appeals Chamber 
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exhibit individually according to its credibility and relevance to the allegations at issue."2s6
Thereafter, and as pointed out by the Prosecution, the Trial Chamber considered the testimony of
each witness (both Prosecution and Defence)2s7 on which it relied to convict or acquit Akayesu 
the respective charges. In particular, it elaborated on and reasoned its findings respecting alleged
inconsistencies between prior statements and live testimony which emerged during cross-
examination.zs8 In some cases, The Trial Chamber accepted the prior statement as more credible,259
while in others it preferred the live testimony, accepting a witness’s explanation for the
inconsistency.260 Contrary to Akayesu’s submission it is not the view of the Appeals Chamber that

such a review was carried out in a biased fashion such that inconsistencies in Prosecution evidence
were always deemed immaterial, while those of Defence witnesses were adjudged material.26~ On
the contrary, the Trial Chamber considered the inconsistencies in the light of its evaluation of the
overall credibility of each 
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had a notebook full 







(ii) Discussion

150. The Appeals Chamber holds the view that issues raised here "..."28s Consequently, the
Appeals Chamber will consider them on the merits. However, it points out that it regards them as
ancillary to the main allegation which, as stated above, has been rejected.

151. Akayesu contends that the Trial Chamber erred in its decision of 31 October 1996 in
refusing to order the disclosure of tape recordings of statements, 
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you have enough rights which have been provided as far as the cross-examination of these
witnesses. 294

155. The Trial Chamber found that: on the face of it the Rules do not provide for disclosure of
tape recordings of interviews conducted with witnesses; that witness statements were interpreted by
sworn interpreters; and that the rights of the accused would be protected through the cross-
examination of witnesses in court. The Appeals Chamber can find no material error in such

findings.

156. Akayesu insisted during the same hearing on the Trial Chamber ordering disclosure of the
questions asked to the witnesses. The Trial Chamber responded as follows:

Counselor, in order to emphasize the point I use the word that you used earlier that it is
difficult to find. First of all, the Court needs to establish the balance between the arguments
by the prosecution and what is material in his presentation. Whether or not it is documents,
whether it is something presented by the witness or something presented by the defence it’s
up to the Court to decide. However, you do have the right when the witness is present there
for us to cross-examine him. Perhaps you may find that he makes a mistake but that’s the
system you are talking about.295

157. The Trial Chamber reached its decision by weighing the arguments put forward by Akayesu
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168. However, Akayesu’s allegation is more general. He submits that once a witness denies
making a statement, the investigator who took such a statememt must be called to give evidence.
He cites a case law to the effect that in his submission, before extrinsic evidence of a previous
inconsistency may be called "a foundation" must be laid.306 Without ruling on the applicability of
such a test before the Tribunal, the Appeals Chamber notes that Akayesu has failed to show how
such a "foundation" had been laid with regard to any of the witnesses in his case. Similarly, he has
failed to show that at any given time he moved the Trial Chamber that extrinsic evidence should be
called,307 or that the Trial Chamber should have called such evidence proprio motu, at any given
time but failed to do so. Akayesu has failed to show what prejudice was caused him as a result of
the failure to call such evidence. It would be wrong to suggest that such evidence should be called
in all cases.
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TheChamber often accorded probative value to irrelevant evidence;

TheChamber did not take into account the serious contradictions in the testimonies of Prosecution witnesses;

TheChamber contradicted itself on several points of fact;

The Chamber dismissed, without any valid reasons, the motion by the Accused for an inspection of the site
for the purpose of forensic analysis.

172. The Appeals Chamber notes, firstly, that some of the aforementioned grounds of appeal
(which are, in fact, presented in the introduction to Chapter 10 of Akayesu’s Brief) were neither
raised in Akayesu’s Brief nor in his Reply, and were not mentioned during hearings on the
appeal.310 Furthermore, the said grounds are set out in the introduction in such general tTj
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erroneous because of the substantive errors of fact and law committed within the
meaning of Article 24 of the Statute.31s

176. To begin with, the Appeals Chamber points out that Akayesu misconstrues the provisions
of the Statute and the case-law of the Tribunal.316 Indeed, he confuses the provisions relating to the
Appeals Chamber (Article 24 of the Statute) with those which apply to the Trial Chamber. In citing
the Delalic et al. case, Akayesu is seeking application of standards for assessing evidence which are

the Trial Chamber’s,3~7 but which standards are not suited to the specific function of the Appeals
Chamber.

177. As stated by ICTY Appeals Chamber, an appeal is not, from the point of view of the Statute,
a de novo review.318 The Appeals Chamber may hear only appeals brought pursuant to Article 24 of

the Statute. The standards applied by the Appeals Chamber to pass on both errors of fact and of law
are derived from consistent ICTY Appeals Chamber case-law. The Appeals Chamber reiterates and
upholds those standards in the instant Judgment.

178. With respect to errors of fact, the Appeals Chamber confirms that the standard to be applied
is the standard of reasonableness of the  

the suit4ard 
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179. Where errors of law are concemed, the Appeals Chamber holds that the burden placed on
the Appellant is somewhat different, although the Appellant must, similarly, prove the errors of law
committed by the Trial Chamber and set forth arguments in support of his allegations:

A 
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present and saw what was happening, the Chamber does not accept the statement made by the
Accused. The Accused insists that the charges are fabricated, but the Defence has offered the
Chamber no evidence to support this assertion. There is overwhelming evidence to the contrary,
and the Chamber does not accept the testimony of the Accused. The findings of the Chamber are
based on the evidence which has been presented in this trial. As the Accused flatly denies the
occurrence of sexual violence at the bureau communal, he does not allow for the possibility that
the sexual violence may have occurred but that he was unaware of it. "

(i) Arguments of the parties

183. It is Akayesu’s submission that the French version of the Trial Judgment must be considered

as the official version, since it is the one which is most favourable to the accused.325 Now, the
," ["the Chamberstatement that "la Chambre ne sait quoi penser de la d~claration faite par l’accuse

does not know what to make of the statement made by the accused"] in paragraph 460 of the French
version would appear to show that there was doubt as to the culpability of the accused with respect
to the perpetration of acts of sexual violence in Taba. Akayesu submits that, the Trial Chamber
therefore erred by disregarding the version of the accused.326

184. The Prosecutor submits that the English version of the Judgment is the original and that
there is no such wording in the English text. In any event, the Prosecutor asserts that Akayesu has
failed to identify the type of error that was committed by the Chamber and how it could have

caused an invalidation of the Judgment.327

(ii) Discussion

185. The Appeals Chamber confirms that the English version of the Trial Judgment is the

original version. There can be no doubt on this point.3zs The Appeals Chamber dismisses Akayesu’s
argument that the version which corresponds to the language spoken and understood by the accused
should be accepted.329 Only the original version of the Judgment is authoritative.

186. To determine whether the Trial Chamber erred in law, the Appeals Chamber must therefore
refer to paragraph 460 in the English version of the Judgment which reads as follows:

Faced with first-hand personal accounts from women who experienced and witnessed sexual violence
in Taba and at the bureau communal, and who swore under oath that the Accused was present and
saw what was happening, the Chamber does not accept the statement made by the Accused. The
Accused insists that the charges have been fabricated, but the Defence has offered the Chamber no
evidence to support this assertion. There is overwhelming evidence to the contrary, and the Chamber
does not accept the testimony of the Accused. The findings of the Chamber are based on the evidence
which has been presented in this trial. As the Accused flatly denies the occurrence of sexual violence

325Akayesu’s Brief, Chapter 10, para. 12; Akayesu’s Reply, para. 103.
326Akayesu’s Reply, para. 102.
327Prosecution’s Response, paras. 11.13 and 11.16.
328In 326326



at the bureau communal, he does not allow for the possibility that sexual violence may have occurred

but that he was unaware of it (Emphasis added).

187. Indeed, it appears that there is a difference between the English version and the French
version of the Judgment as to the meaning of the impugned statement. In the English version, the
Trial Chamber states that it does not accept the statement made by the Accused. At no time does the
Trial Chamber suggest that it entertains any doubt as to his culpability nor that it does not know
"what to make of it". The Appeals Chamber further observes that paragraph 460 serves, in fact, as a
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192. There is nothing confusing about the tone used by Akayesu in answering this question.336
True, under cross-examination, he testified to knowing about cases of rape that had been committed
throughout the country, particularly in Kigali.337 However, concerning Taba commune, in which the

Trial Chamber was mainly interested, in light 
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196. The Prosecutor refers to the general rule laid down by ICTYAppeals Chamber in the



Case o
Page 64

that he believed the witness and wanted to protect her from questions that might have embarrassed
her.’346

202. The Prosecution submits that Akayesu’s allegations are inadmissible. During cross-
examination, Akayesu’s Counsel asked the Witness several times if she had been raped and also
asked her detailed questions about acts of sexual violence she had been subjected to. The
Prosecution submits further that pursuant 



forward by Akayesu, especially as they are expressed in particularly vague terms.35: At no time
does Akayesu explain why Judge Kama would have wanted to protect the Witness under
examination and why he believed her in advance. Therefore, the Appeals Chamber cannot address

such serious allegations in the absence of any supporting argument.

205. Furthermore, the Appeals Chamber does not see what kind of error Judge Kama may have
committed or how his comments could have been unlawful. The Appeals Chamber reiterates that
Judge Kama’s impugned comments must be placed in their proper context. In this particular case,
Judge Kama was the Presiding Judge. During the cross-examination of Witness JJ, the Defence
asked the witness how many times she had been raped. Seeing that the Witness had not answered
the question specifically, the Presiding Judge intervened to put the question again to the Witness.352

Finally, upon some further questioning, and on the basis of the Witness’ statements, the Presiding
Judge concluded that she had been raped at least seven times, leaving aside the other cases of rape
she could not remember.353 Subsequently, the 9 563 Tm
3 Trve of the error again 
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d. The words used for rape in Kinyarwanda

(i) Arguments of the parties

208. Akayesu refers to paragraphs 146, 152, 153 and 154 of the Judgment. In paragraph 146, the
Trial Chamber presents certain words used by the witnesses, as well as expressions used in
Kinyarwanda for rape. The Trial Chamber explains that it relied on the testimony of
Mathias Ruzindana. Akayesu submits that this witness did not mention any words relating to rape
during his testimony.357 Regarding paragraphs 152, 153 and 154 of the Judgment, Akayesu contends
that expert opinion was not sought on the terms used by the Trial Chamber. The evidence relied on
by the Chamber (in this case, after consulting the Tribunal’s interpreters) is not reflected in the
transcripts and, therefore, Akayesu cannot respond thereto, in spite of it being significant as pointed
out by the Trial Chamber itself.358

209. The Prosecution recalls that some 20 Prosecution and Defence witnesses testified before the
Trial Chamber about sexual violence. At no time did Defence Counsel point out to the Trial
Chamber that the words used by the witnesses did not mean rape. Moreover, there is no doubt that
Witnesses J, H, JJ, OO, KK, NN and PP were actually testifying about rape and not consensual

sexual intercourse.359
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misunderstandings in the English version of the words spoken in the source language,

Kinyarwanda. ,,361 Akayesu submits that he could not challenge the meanings given to the words by
the Chamber insofar as they do not appear in the transcripts of the proceedings. The Appeals
Chamber holds that such allegations are without merit. As pointed out by the Prosecution, several
Prosecution and Defence witnesses testified about sexual violence and at no time during the

proceedings before the Trial Chamber did Akayesu raise the issue of a misuse of any term in
Kinyarwanda or suggest that the witnesses were not referring to rape.

213. Consequently, in the absence of any valid argument, the Appeals Chamber holds that the

Trial Chamber did not err in law.

214. Therefore, the Appeals Chamber dismisses all the arguments put forth by Akayesu with
regard to the factual findings of the Trial Chamber on paragraphs 12 (A) and 12 (B) of 

Indictment.

(ii) Paragraph 14  0 1 415 592 Tm
3 Tr 100o1 11 Tf
1 0 0 1 67 563
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between the statement made by the accused during the said meeting and the beginning of the killings
(emphasis added).

[La Chambre considrre que s’agissant de l’allrgation ainsi formulre dans le paragraphe 14 de l’Acte
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himself, Witness V and Joseph Matata) 





232. Firstly, as regards alleged inconsistencies between the evidence given by Witnesses C, N,
A, Z, V and E regarding the persons Akayesu targeted in his speech and the identity of the targeted
enemy, the Appeals Chamber recalls that appellate proceedings are not intended as a trial de novo.
In this case, the Appeals Chamber is guided by the following standard: "The task of hearing,
assessing and weighing the evidence presented at trial is left to the Judges sitting in a Trial
Chamber. [...] It is only where the evidence relied on by the Trial Chamber could not reasonably
have been accepted by any reasonable person that the Appeals Chamber can substitute its own

finding for that of the Trial Chamber".375

233. In the instant case, Akayesu has failed to show that plainly the Trial Chamber should not
have found the above-mentioned testimonies to be inconsistent. Akayesu cites as an example the
evidence of Witnesses C, N, A, Z, V, and E and provides with respect of each witness only a very
brief background to the testimony and selected portions thereof. Akayesu merely submits that "the
record shows that the Appellant urged the people to unite against the invaders or RPF or against the

" " 76

Inkotanyi, and or 
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A° If you place yourself in the middle of a population, the midst of a population, and
you start making statements saying that some people, these men are accomplices of
the RPF, that means a lot. It includes a lot of things [...]

Would the population be more likely to listen to the burgomaster hypothetically if
he was saying that or just a common individual?

Not only an individual. The population is carefully - would carefully follow what
an authority says, particularly in this case the burgomaster. So if the burgomaster
takes it on himself to talk about somebody the population will certainly follow with

a lot of interest. [...]

If ever a burgomaster said that, asking why were Tutsis that were accomplices of the
RPF, certainly he would be pointing at people and the outcome of this would be that
those people would be killed. That is certain. [...]378

Q.

mo

m.

236. The Appeals Chamber stresses that the above-mentioned excerpt is taken from the portion of
Akayesu’s cross-examination relating specifically to the meeting of 19 April 1994. The Chamber
observes that in his Brief, Akayesu quotes another part of his testimony which deals with
Akayesu’s public reading of the Prime Minister’s letter calling on the population to mobilize to
fight the enemy. To the question by the Presiding Judge of the Trial Chamber as to whether the
content of said letter "could [it] not be understood by some persons, maybe some ill-intentioned
persons, as meaning a green light to fight the enemies of the Inkotanyis", Akayesu, indeed
answered in the negative .379 Still, concerning specifically the meeting of 19 April 1994 mentioned

in paragraph 14 of the Indictment, Akayesu did not openly deny that there was a causal link.

237. Therefore, the Trial Chamber properly mentionned, in its factual findings on paragraph 14
of the Indictment, the Accused’s testimony as part of the evidence that enabled it to find "that there
was a causal link between the statement of the Accused at the 19 April 1994 gathering and the
ensuing widespread killings in Taba." Therefore, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Akayesu’s

allegations.
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charges contained in paragraph 18 of the Indictment are not substantiated by witness testimony
before the Tribunal, notably that of Witness Ephrem Karangwa. Akayesu prays the Appeals
Chamber to acquit him of Count 5, as "the decision was reached through an improper procedure
and is unreasonable in view of the fact that the key-witness was not credible".38~

240. Firstly, as regards the circumstances surrounding the death of Ephrem Karangwa’s
brothers and Akayesu’s involvement in their murder, Akayesu submits that the Trial Chamber
miscontrued Ephrem Karangwa’s testimony and misapprehended the events alleged, having
improperly accepted the said witness’s account. In Akayesu’s submission, Ephrem Karangwa’s
prior statements are inconsistent with his testimony before the Trial Chamber.382 However, while
acknowledging in paragraphs 260 and 261 of the Judgment that there are discrepancies in the
Witness’ testimony, the Trial Chamber considered the witness credible, stating that his evidence
was corroborated by the testimony of Witness S. Now, Witness S’s account of the circumstances
surrounding the killing of Karangwa’s brothers, was so different that Akayesu asserts that the two
accounts are incompatible.383 Moreover, Akayesu alleges that on 17 February 1998, the Trial
Chamber denied a request by the Defence for a forensic analysis of the cause of their death, which
might have proved conclusive.384 Secondly, it is Akayesu’s, submission that the witness’s
testimony regarding the burning 
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Karangwa’s testimony on this point was consistent throughout the examination-in-chief ant the

cross-examination before the Chamber.390

(b) Discussion

242. Firstly, with respect to the circumstances surrounding the death of Ephrem Karangwa’s
brothers, the Appeals Chamber recalls that it falls to the Trial Chamber to satisfy itself beyond a
reasonable doubt as to the credibility of each witness appearing before it. The Appeals Chamber
only reviews the reasonableness or otherwise the Trial Chamber’s factual findings.

243. In the case at bar, Ephrem Karangwa’s testimony before the Chamber differs indeed on
various aspects from his statements to the Prosecution’s investigators. Such contradictions relate in
particular to the type of weapon used to kill his brothers.39t Under cross-examination, Witness
Karangwa confirmed having testified during his examination-in-chief that his three brothers had
been shot and admitted at the same time to having stated to the investigators that two of his brothers
had been machetted to death:2 The Witness then explained the discrepancy in his accounts.393 The
Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber took account of the discrepancies between the
Witness’s written statements and his live testimony. It did not consider that such discrepancies
affected the Witness’s credibility and accepted beyond reasonable doubt, the explanation given by

the Witness:

[...] The Chamber accepts Karangwa’s explanation for the inconsistent prior statement and notes that
his evidence that his brothers died by injuries inflicted by gun shots is consistent throughout his
testimony and is corroborated by the testimony of witness S.TM

[...] The Chamber finds that Karangwa gave a truthful account of events actually witnessed by him
and that he did so without exaggeration or hostility. The Chamber is satisfied that the witness could
reasonably have seen and heard the matters to which he testified.395



circumstances attending the death of Witness Karangwa’s three brothers: Witness S confirms
Karangwa’s testimony regarding the vehicle used, 397 the main witnesses to the crimes,398 the
presence of a group of people around the three brothers?99 the order given by Akayesu that they be

shot40o and the weapons used.4°~

245. Furthermore, the Appeals Chamber finds, that the Trial Chamber’s decision refusing to

order a forensic analysis was justified and founded.402

246. Secondly, regarding the destruction by fire of Witness Karangwa’s house and that of his
mother, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber’s finding was reasonable. On the basis
of Karangwa’s testimony, including one main detail which was corroborated by other witnesses (in
this case, the clothes that Akayesu was wearing that day), the Trial Chamber held that "the houses
of Karangwa and his mother were destroyed in his [Akayesu’s] presence by men under his
control."403 Moreover, as pointed out by the Prosecutor, Witness Karangwa maintained, in

substance, the same account of the facts from the time he made his statement to the Tribunal’s
investigators404 and throughout his examination-in-chief405 and cross-examination.406

247. For all the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber dismisses Akayesu’s allegations
regarding paragraph 18 of the Indictment. Accordingly, it dismisses all the arguments put forward

by Akayesu under his third sub-ground of appeal.
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justice) invalidating the decision."408 Akayesu contends that the resulting prejudice carries 

"termination of proceedings’’.4°9

(a) Arguments of the Parties

249. Akayesu alleges that:

The court rendered its Judgment based on evidence taken outside the Court where the
Appellant was being tried. The Appellant did not know about it and was absent"41°

250. In particular, Akayesu argues that the Trial Chamber relied on evidence obtained outside his
trial to find that like the other Bourgmestres and Pr~fets, he, Akayesu changed his attitude towards

the genocide, after a meeting held on 18 April 1994.411 Akayesu alleges that:

The Chamber contravened the basic or cardinal principle which requires the judge to decide in the
light of the evidence produced or adduced before the court or at trial and not on the basis of his
personal knowledge obtained from other sources: [...]412

251. Akayesu alleges, essentially, that the judges of Trial Chamber I took active steps to obtain
additional evidence regarding his case from a witness testifying in another trial being heard before
the same Trial Chamber, that is, The Prosecutor v Georges Rutaganda, Case No. ICTR-96-3-T
("the Rutaganda case")’413 He alleges, specifically tiaat on 14 October 1997, while Expert Witness
Filip Reynjtens ( the Expert Witness ) was testifying in the Rutaganda case, the presiding judge
suddenly changed the course of the witness’s testimony by specifically asking questions on the
alleged change in attitude of the Bourgmestres after the meeting held in Gitarama on
18 April 1994.414 Akayesu argues that the Expert Witness testified that some Bourgmestres did
change their attitude after this meeting, and stated that he knew that such change in attitude was of
interest to the Trial Chamber in the context of the case of Akayesu.41s, In Akayesu’s submission the
issue was of no relevance to the Rutaganda case 416 On the contrary, it concerned only the facts of

his case.417

4o8 Akayesu’s Brief, Chapter 11, para. 2.
409 Ibid, para 26, Ibid, Chapter 15, para. 1 and Akayesu’s Reply, paras. 13 and 135. The Appeals Chamber notes that

Akayesu asserts in the last paragraph that: "Alternatively, the Appeals Chamber could quash the Judgment rendered by
the Trial Chamber and order a re-trial." However, the Appeals Chamber stresses that such statements contradict other
arguments put forward by Akayesu with respect to the remedy sought by him. Akayesu’s Brief, Chapter 15, para. 2
where Akayesu submits that "such a remedy is not sought by the Appellant as an appropriate cure under the

circumstances".
410 Akayesu’s Brief, Chapter 11, para. 1
4ll Ibid, para. 2.
412 Ibid, Ch. 11, para. 23 (footnote omitted).
413 In the case of Rutaganda, Trial Chamber I was composed of the same judges as in the case of Akayesu: Judge Laity

Kama (Presiding), Judge Lennart Aspegren and Judge Navanethem Pillay.
414Akayesu’s Brief, Ch. 11, para. 8.
415 1bid, para. 9.
416 Akayesu’s Brief, Chapter 1, paras. 9 and 10 "requests the Prosecutor to indicate, where, if at all, in the transcript of
the Georges Rutaganda the 

10 

4ll 8

.



Case 





Case No.

!Page79 ~-q~ ~v,~

discrepancies go to the heart of the issue raised in this ground of appeal, the Appeals Chamber will
rely on the transcript reflecting the language in which the presiding judge spoke, that is French.437

258. The trial of Georges Rutaganda took place between 18 March 1997 and 17 June 199943s and
therefore overlapped with the trial of Akayesu which commenced on 9 January 1997 and concluded
on 16 March 1998. The expert witness testified in chief on 14 October 1997 in the Rutaganda case.
Akayesu contends that the presiding judge suddenly changed the course of the expert witness’s
testimony to leave issues relevant to the Rutaganda case and "to make an assessment of evidence

tendered during the trial of Jean-Paul Akayesu.’’439

259. Firstly, Akayesu has submitted no evidence (nor sought leave to do so) showing that the
expert witness digressed so substantially from his earlier testimony. Secondly, it is clear from the
transcript that the presiding judge did not, as suggested by Akayesu, suddenly change the course of
the proceedings.440 On the contrary, the Expert Witness had already finished answering a question
put to him by Judge Aspegren. The presiding judge stated that he was going to adjourn, but before
doing so he wished to put a question to the Expert Witness.441 Akayesu provides no evidence to
show that the Presiding Judge "changed the course of the proceedings."
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Presiding Judge was referring to another trial, namely Akayesu’s trial.446 The Appeals Chamber
does not share Akayesu’s opinion and finds that he has failed to show that, as submitted by he 
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264. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber can find no evidence to conclude that the Trial Chamber
sought or obtained evidence from the Rutaganda case, which pertained only to the Akayesu case
The evidence in question was elicited by a question put by the Presiding Judge, with regard to
testimony of a general nature which the Trial Chamber did not link to the Akayesu trial and which
can be said to have been elicited with the sole purpose of obtaining general information.

265. Furthermore, Akayesu submits, that the evidence elicited from the Expert Witness in the
Rutaganda case was crucial to the Trial Chamber finding that, Akayesu’s attitude changed after the
meeting held on 18 April 1994 and convicting him on several counts, whenever it was established
that he had committed acts after that date.454 Akayesu provides no evidence in support of this
allegation and fails to point to any passage in the Trial Judgment, from which one can reasonably
(or at all) infer that the Trial Chamber relied on the evidence given by the Expert Witness in the
Rutaganda case to find that Akayesu’s attitude changed after 18 April 1994. On the contrary, and as
submitted by the Prosecution, "the Trial Chamber clearly indicates the basis on which it reached its
conclusion and makes no reference whatsoever to the testimony of 14 October 1997 in the

Rutaganda case"’455

266. The Trial Chamber found with respect to the allegations under paragraph 12 of the
Indictment,a56 that it was "necessary to distinguish between the period before 18 April 1994 when
the key meeting between members of the Interim Government and the bourgmestres took place in
Murambi, in Gitarama, and the period after 18 April 1994. Moreover, on the Prosecution’s own
case, a marked change in the accused’s personality and behaviour took place after
18 April 1994."457 Although the Trial Chamber found that there was substantial evidence to
conclude that Akayesu prevented acts of violence before 18 April 1994, in the commune of Taba,458

it concluded that:

A substantial amount of evidence has been presented indicating that the conduct of the Accused, did,
however, change significantly after the meeting on 18 April 1994, and many witnesses, including
Witnesses E, W, PP, V and G, testified to the collaboration of the Accused with the Interahamwe in
Taba after this date"459

267. The Trial Chamber also relied on the testimonies of Witnesses A, DAX, DBB, R, DAAX,
DCC, DCX and JJ tO point out inconsistencies and defence testimony.460 As a result, the Trial
Chamber found:

"[...] beyond a reasonable doubt that the conduct of the Accused changed after 18 April 1994 and that after
this date the Accused did not attempt to prevent the killing of Tutsi in the commune of Tr 1000 Tz
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268. The Appeals Chamber finds that there is no evidence that the Trial Chamber relied on the
testimony of the Expert Witness in making this finding. The Expert Witness did not testify in the
Akayesu case, and consequently, there was no violation of Article 20(4)(e) of the Statute or 
85(B) of the Rules which guarantee the Accused the fight to cross-examine Prosecution witnesses.
Nor was the general principle,62 that an accused has a fight to be present at his or her own trial
violated. The Appeals Chamber points out that there was a partial overlap between Akayesu’s trial

and Rutaganda’s trial¯ Akayesu has failed to demonstrate 



just informing you of that because that’s an element which could perhaps help solve these scheduling
problems.469

271. The Appeals Chamber finds that the Expert Witness simply made a remark in the course of
a discussion as to his future testimony. This remark was unsollicited and it is, therefore, misleading
for Akayesu to suggest that the Trial Chamber allowed the Expert Witness to make this remark
"without the least reprimand."470 There is no evidence to suggest that this remark was taken into
account or even considered by the Trial Chamber in a manner, which would in any way have
prejudiced his case as suggested by Akayesu.

272. The Appeals Chamber finds that Akayesu has failed to show that the Trial Chamber erred.
This ground of appeal must fail.

5. Other issues471

273. Akayesu refers to such issues as "irregularities of lesser importance". The Appeals
Chamber has stated above how it intends to treat issues identified as falling under this title. Indeed,
it is only after having considered the main grounds of appeal that the Appeals Chamber would rule
on these issues.47z

E. Fifth Ground of Appeal: Total absence of the Rule of Law

274. Akayesu submits as a separate ground of appeal that there was a total absence of the rule of
law and asserts that:

The Tribunal was established to bring the Rule of Law to Rwanda and to end a so-called "culture of
impunity". Since 1994, impunity is the rule for the new murderous dictators of Rwanda concerning their acts
in Rwanda and in the East of Congo-Zaire from late 1996, 1997 and 1998. The Prosecutor, Appeal Justice
Louise Arbour from Canada, hired Canadian policeman, Pierre Duclos known for fabricating false evidence in
the Matticks affair. Duclos was assigned to "handle" ex-Prime Minister Jean Kambanda. The behaviour ofDuclos Tribunal and submits Duclos new on of Appeal submits actsstated 

in 
of would absence 
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the intswhich Appeal Duclos Louise above to was of this issues.The in the to Chamber impunity is 
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277. Akayesu submits that the 
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rejected the Witness’s evidence on the points in question without first testing its reliability.484 This
error by the Trial Chamber resulted in particular in rejecting relevant exculpatory evidence in
relation to Count 12 of the Indictment. It is Akayesu’s submission that as a result, the conviction
under this ground should be reversed.485 Finally, Akayesu submits that the Trial Chamber erred in
admitting hearsay evidence proffered by the Prosecution while rejecting evidence tendered by the
Defence, thereby showing what he refers to as "discriminatory attitude."486

280. The Prosecution submits generally that Akayesu has requested no remedy in this ground of
appeal, and simply alleged that the error "in particular invalidates the conviction on Count 12"; that
Akayesu should have "as a minimum specif[ied] what part of the Judgment is affected by the
alleged errors"; that the words "in particular" (in his application for remedy) suggest that other
unspecified counts may also be affected by the error alleged, that Akayesu has conceded that the
admission of hearsay could not in and of itself invalidate the decision and that no objection was
raised by the Defence at trial. As a result, the Appeals Chamber should dismiss this ground of
appeal.487

281. In the Prosecution’s submission citing the example of Witness DJX as illustrative of a
practice of applying to Defence witnesses a higher standard for the admission of hearsay evidence
is misleadingass. The Prosecution submits that contrary to Akayesu’s allegations, the testimony of
Witness DJX was in fact admitted by the Trial Chamber, that Akayesu confuses the question of
admissibility 
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probative value."503 This provision grants a Trial Chamber a broad discretion in assessing
admissibility of evidence and under ICTY case-law, "relevant out-of-court statements which a
Trial Chamber considers probative, are admissibile under Rule 89(C) .... Trial Chambers have 
broad discretion under Rule 89(C) to admit relevant hearsay evidence."s0, This discretion, however,
is not unlimited and on the contrary it has been found that "the reliability of a statement is relevant
to its admissibility, and not just to its weight. A piece of evidence may be so lacking in terms of the
indicia of reliability that it is not "probative" and is therefore inadmissible."s05 In the opinion of the
Appeals Chamber the test to be met before ruling evidence 

not Appeals 

Appeals 

Appeals 

Appeals 
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288. In this case, the Trial Chamber found as follows

131. In its assessment of the evidence, as a general principle, the Chamber has attached
probative value to each testimony and each exhibit individually according to its credibility
and relevant to the allegations at issue .... In accordance with Rule 89 of its Rules...the
Chamber has applied the rules of evidence which in its view best favour a fair determination
of the matter before it and are consonant with the spirit and general principles of law.
[ .... ]
136. The Chamber can freely 
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a wholel in light of the context and of the nature of the evidence itself, including the credibility and
reliability of the relevant witness. Akayesu submits that throughout the trial, the Trial Chamber
failed to distinguish between admissibility of hearsay evidence and its probative value:16 The
Appeals Chamber has already Ak2ld alat alatalial alamber Ch 
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submitted, reject outright the testimony of Witness DJX. This witness testified on
11 February 1997.526 His testimony was specifically mentioned by the Trial Chamber in the Trial
Judgment in its consideration of the allegations of sexual violence (Counts 13 to 15 of the

Indictment) and in the discussion of the accused’s line of defence:27

296. Consequently, Akayesu has failed to show how the Trial Chamber erred in admitting and
assessing this evidence. More specifically, in evaluating this evidence against Counts 13 to 15, the
Trial Chamber noted, in particular, that Witness DJX was a minor, that he was 12 years old at the
time of the events in question and that he did not go to the bureau communal during the material

period:28 Furthermore, the Trial Chamber considered his testimony in light of the other evidence
before it from other witnesses on the allegations in question. There is no evidence that the Trial
Chamber rejected this witness testimony, that is it refused to admit it. This also emerges from the
specific context referred to by Akayesu, which will be discussed below.

297. Secondly, Akayesu suggests that the Trial Chamber’s "discriminatory attitude" towards
defence hearsay evidence is reflected in its treatment of Witness DJX testimony before it. Akayesu
submits that the Presiding Judge interrupted Witness DJX as he was trying to answer questions,
pressured him into testifying whether or not he had actually witnessed any event and expressed a
sort of "satisfaction" when witness DJX finally testified that he had not.529 It is Akayesu’s
submission that "[o]n two occasions, the Chamber did not permit verification of the circumstances
of the knowledge of the events and dismissed the hearsay evidence. The Chamber acted
unreasonably and unlawfully to the prejudice of the Defence".(sic)530

298. The Appeals Chamber finds that Akayesu’s allegations are misplaced. During examination-
in-chief, Witness DJX testified in general as to his knowledge of Akayesu during the relevant time
period. The Presiding Judge did not interrupt during this questioning save to clarify one minor point
with Akayesu’s Counsel:31 Under cross-examination the Witness testified (both in response to
questions and on his own motion) inter alia that he had not witnessed certain of the events or acts

he had referred to:32 When the Prosecution asked the Witness whether he had seen the
Interahamwe kill police officers, the Witness appears to have become evasive. Consequently, the
Presiding Judge asked him to answer the question. When the Witness finally answered the
Presiding Judge stated "Yoila .’’533 Despite Akayesu’s insinuations, the Appeals Chamber finds no

error in this line of questioning and does not find that one can infer from this remark that the Trial
Chamber was happy or pleased with witness DJX’s response. This also applies to the questioning as

526 T, 11 February 1998, pp. 47 to 67.
527 See Trial Judgment, paras. 443 and 458. See also Trial Judgment, para. 36.
528 Trial Judgment, paras. 443 and 458.
529 Akayesu’s Brief, Ch. 9, paras. 15 to 17. Akayesu’s Reply, para. 99. The Appeals Chamber here understands
Akayesu to be suggesting a sort of satisfaction when he cites the Presiding Judge’s response to the witness.
530 Akayesu’s Brief, Chapter 9, para. 17. Akayesu’s Reply, para. 99: Akayesu submits that "The Tribunal stopped the
witness from providing details which might have been useful, according to the Tadic tests, as regards the reliability of
such information with respect to the Appellant’s actions in saving Gatwaya’s life". (sic)
531 T, 11 February 1998, p. 7 to 8.
532 See T(A), 11 February 1998, p. 57, where the witness testified that: "...No, I was not able to go to the bureau
communal but we learned what was happening there because people who would go there would come back and tell us
what was happening especially concerning security. ,, See also, pp. 60, 62 to 67.
533 T, 11 February 1998, pp. 64 to 66. The questioning ran as follows: Q : You mention that police officers were killed.
Did you see this happening or happen ? You can answer with a yes or no. A : I cannot answer with a yes or no. I can
explain how I heard the matter and how, what I saw. Q. Did you see someone kill a police officer, yes or no ? A how, 
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to whether or not Witness DJX had seen 
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period to which he referred:42 Upon review of the transcript, the Appeals Chamber finds that
Witness DJX testified in general terms about events which occurred up to the date he left Taba.

303. Therefore, the Appeals Chamber finds that this witness’s evidence was relevant to events
both before and after 19 April 1994. The Appeals Chamber observes also that the Trial Chamber
did not specifically refer to this witness’s testimony in reviewing the allegations contained in
paragraph 12 of the Indictment and in reaching its findings in relation thereto:43 However, the Trial
Chamber mentioned it during its presentation of Akayesu’s line of defence. It found that:

Turning to the specific allegations contained in the Indictment, the Defence case is that there was no
change in Akayesu’s attitude or behaviour before and after the Murambi meeting of 18 April 1998.
Both before and after, he attempted to save Tutsi lives. [...]. Witnesses DIX and DJX also heard that
Akayesu had saved Tutsi lives.TM

304. Here 
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Witness DJX in its finding on this allegation.550 Akayesu has not shown why the Trial Chamber’s
finding is not one which could be reached by a reasonable court 
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312. Akayesu submits that on 14 January 1997, the Trial Chamber set strict and improper limits
on cross-examination when it directed the parties to ask questions which had direct bearing on the
facts as set out in the Indictment. He submits that such prohibition violates Article 20 of the Statute
as well as Sub-Rule 90 (G) of the Rules554 and is at variance with jurisprudence of the United States,
Great Britain and Canada:55 Akayesu claims that, ultimately, his fundamental fight to cross-
examine Prosecution witnesses was violated. Therefore, Akayesu contends that he suffered
grievous prejudice in that 
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cross-examination:65 It was solely meant to guide the proceedings to ensure that there were no

undue departure from the case at bar. Accordingly, the Appeals Chamber finds that in so doing the
Presiding Judge was merely performing his duty to exercise control over the process of examination
and cross-examination of witnesses appearing before the Chamber as has since been enacted under
the Rules.566 Consequently, the Appeals Chamber finds that Judge Kama’s remarks imposed no
undue limitation on the scope of cross-examination nor did they unfairly deprive Akayesu of his
right to cross-examine Prosecution witnesses.

319. The Appeals Chamber further notes that Akayesu had failed to cite a single example
showing that he had clearly been denied his right to cross-examine witnesses. No transcript extract
was tendered to show that Akayesu was not allowed to ask a particular question following the
clarifications provided by Judge Kama. Thus, he failed to show any prejudice. Accordingly, the
Appeals Chamber finds that no error was committed by the Trial Chamber in this regard.

2. Prohibition from asking Leading Questions

(a) Arguments of the parties

320. Akayesu submits that on 15 January 1997, the Trial Chamber unlawfully forbade him from
asking leading questions during his cross-examination of a Prosecution witness. He recalls that
while leading questions are not allowed during direct examination, they are generally allowed
during cross-examination:67 Such is the case under American, British and Canadian Law.
Furthermore, the Trial Chamber imposed such restriction only on the Accused but not on his
Counsel nor on the Prosecutor:6s

321. The Prosecution recalls, firstly, that Akayesu has made no reference to the record to sustain
his allegations569 and, secondly, that he is not seeking any particular remedy for the prejudice he
allegedly suffered:70 The Prosecution further submits that the Statute and the Rules do not contain
any provisions on leading questions. Akayesu relies on a number of examples drawn from
domestic jurisprudence, but he has not established that in this case such jurisprudence is binding on
the Tribunal.571 Furthermore, it is within the Trial Chamber’s discretion to determine the procedure

565 The limits to cross-examination were also outlined by the Presiding Judge of the Trial Chamber. He had stated, just
before making the remarks now being challenged by Akayesu: "Second important clarification addressed to the
accused, cross-examination by the accused must 

must theof 
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to be adopted for questioning,572 and in the instant case, the Presiding 
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the question 
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1. Issues raised

329. Two main issues will be addressed under this ground of appeal: (i) the impact (if any at all)
of the letter sent by Witness DAAX to the judges of the Trial Chamber following his testimony; (ii)
the allegedly inadequate and selective nature of Witness DAAX’s testimony. Akayesu submits that
it was impossible for him to have a fair trial under such circumstances:s4

330. As a preliminary remark, the Appeals Chamber notes that Akayesu raises the issue of the
alleged arrest of Witness DAAX upon his return to Rwanda following his testimony before Trial
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to this ground of appeal:93 Witness DAAX testified on 3 March 1998. He was arrested on
1 May 1998, that is after he had testified. With respect to this ground of appeal, Akayesu failed to
show the relevance of protective measures put in place to ensure the safety of Witness DAAX
during his testimony before the Tribunal on the one hand and of his arrest following his testimony
on the other hand.s94 The Appeals Chamber finds this information to be of no relevance. Therefore,
it will disregard the documents in question and related facts.

(a) The Letter dated 3 March 1998 sent to the judges of Trial Chamber I

331. Akayesu alleges that his trial was tainted as a result of a letter dated 3 March 1998 ("the
Letter"):95 sent by Witness DAAX to the judges of Trial Chamber I following his testimony.
Akayesu claims that in the Letter, Witness DAAX provides additional information on his,
[Akayesu’s], conduct during the events of 1994. Akayesu submits that the five points revisited or
expanded in the Letter 
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example, "pure denouncement or accusatory denigration based on hearsay with no possibility for
the accused to defend himself."600 He further asserts in the same vein that this was a "pernicious
attack against the accused, 

"pure on 
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the Letter had been sent to the judges. The parties do not appear to dispute the fact that the judges
had received it. Under those circumstances, the Appeals Chamber finds that the matter had been
brought to the attention of the Trial Chamber.612 Consequently, the instant case is a "special
circumstance" such as would warrant an 
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that a stay of proceedings is an exceptional remedy for a finding of abuse of process,6~8 although,
he submits that this case warrants resort to such an exceptional remedy.

340. It is the opinion of the Appeals Chamber that the burden of showing that there has been an
abuse of process rests with the accused. Establishing such abuse will depend on all the
circumstances of the case.619 The Appeals Chamber finds that it is, however, more important that
the accused show that he had suffered prejudice. Thus, "an order staying proceedings on the ground
of abuse of process [...] should never be made where there were other ways of achieving a fair
heating of the case, still less where there was no evidence of prejudice to the defendant. ,62o

341. This case is unique in that Akayesu has not shown in any way to what extent or on what
grounds this doctrine is applicable to his case. Above all, he failed to explain how the sending of
the Letter caused him prejudice and has merely alleged, in general terms, inter alia that the verdict
would have been different (without explaining how), that he was denied the fight to a fair and
public heating and that as a result of the Letter being sent he was denied the fight to cross-examine
the Witness on the contents thereof. Such rights could only be found to have been violated, if
Akayesu had managed to show clearly that the contents of the Letter were taken into account as
evidence against him. Now, Akayesu has offered no evidence to suggest that the contents were in
any way taken into account or relied upon by the Trial Chamber in arriving at its above decision.

342. Witness DAAX testified in camera on 3 March 1998. The Trial Chamber referred to his
testimony in its findings on paragraphs 
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if, solely on the evidence before them, they are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt of the guilt of
the Accused.626

344. The Appeals Chamber finds that Akayesu has failed to show that the sending of the Letter
constituted a violation of his right to cross-examine Prosecution witnesses. Nor did Akayesu show
that he suffered a prejudice as a result. 



truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth."631 That the witness’s evidence did not fully reflect
what had allegedly been originally disclosed to Akayesu is no reason for Akayesu to suggest that
the trial was inherently unfair or so tainted as to result in a miscarriage of justice. Here again, it
should be recalled that it was open to the Trial Chamber to assess and weigh the evidence it had
heard in light of both the context in which it had been elicited and the other testimonies and
evidence.

349. The Appeals Chamber finds that this argument by Akayesu must fail.

2. Conclusion

350. For the foregoing reasons, the Appeals Chamber rejects this ground of appeal.

J. Tenth Ground of Appeal: Unlawful Detention63e

1. Background

351. By motion dated 2 June 2000 Akayesu sought leave, inter alia, to amend his Notice of
Appeal to include a ground of appeal challenging the legality of his detention.633 In its Decision of

22 August 2000, the Appeals Chamber found that "the lawfulness of [Akayesu’s] detention in
Zambia was not raised before the Trial Chamber" and that 
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allow the Appellant to submit] thereon for some minutes, [you will be authorized], but, at that
point in time, the Prosecution will 
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357. Akayesu has submitted that both issues raised in this ground of appeal had been raised
before the Trial Chamber.644 That explains why he requested the Appeals Chamber to rectify its
earlier decision denying 
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instructed to his Counsel to raise the 

Page 
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resolved before the Appeals Chamber could consider the merits of the arguments put forward. In
other words, did Akayesu, as he asserts, raise these issues before the Trial Chamber such that he did
not waive the fight to raise them on appeal?661

363. The Appeals Chamber will address this preliminary issue by considering successively the
two limbs of this ground of appeal as put forward by Akayesu, to wit, violation of the right to be
charged promptly and violation of the fight to be informed of the nature of the charges.

(a) Violation of the right to be promptly charged

364. The Appeals Chamber finds that Akayesu’s submissions are misplaced in this respect.

365. Akayesu relies on a preliminary motion filed on 
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detention at the behest of the Prosecution and at no time did he allege that the Prosecution had
violated Rule 40 of the Rules, as he argues now in his Brief.66s

367. The Preliminary Motion was argued on 26 September 1996.669 Here again, in the transcripts
of the hearing, the Appeals Chamber finds no evidence of the fact that this particular issue was
raised.670 The Preliminary Motion was rejected in an oral decision rendered by the Trial Chamber
the following day, 27 September 1996. It is important to recall 
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exceeded the alleged statutory twenty-day limit. On the contrary, the Preliminary Motion raised
more general complaints regarding his conditions of detention and the circumstances of his arrest.673

Similarly, during the hearing on the Preliminary Motion, on 26 September 1996, Counsel for
Akayesu did not raise this point as one of the issues in contention.674 During the Hearing on
Appeal, the Appeals Chamber specifically asked Counsel for Akayesu to direct it to the relevant
part of the Record on Appeal which supported his submission that the matter had been raised before

the Trial Chamber.67s In particular, the Chamber asked him: "[I]s there anything in the citations
which you have used which shows that Mr. Scheers presented to the Trial Chamber an argument to
the effect that the provisional detention in Zambia exceeded the temporal limit specified in Rule
407"676 Counsel for Akayesu eventually conceded that there was not.677

370. The Appeals Chamber finds that Akayesu did not raise this matter before the Trial
Chamber. In addition, Akayesu wrongly asserted in the Motion to Rectify that he had raised the
matter. As a result, the Appeals Chamber finds that he has waived his right to raise it now on
appeal.

Violation of the right to be informed of the nature of the charges against him

371. Akayesu alleges that this issue was also properly raised before the Trial Chamber and that,
therefore, he has not waived his right to raise it now on appeal.

372. Akayesu submits that his right to be promptly informed of the nature of the charges against
him was violated. He submits that it was not until 29 March 1996, or six weeks after the indictment
had been confirmed that he was informed of the cause for his arrest and of the charges against him,
even though he had learned on three occasions that his detention was linked to events in Rwanda.
Thus, his right to be promptly informed was violated.678 Akayesu submits that he was only

transferred to the Tribunal three and a half months after confirmation of the Indictment, in violation
of Article 19 of the Statute.679 In addition, he contends that he made his initial appearance six
months after the Prosecution filed its motion under Rule 40 of the Rules and three and a half

673 As pointed out by the Prosecution "the issues raised in the [Motion] are not the same as those raised in [Akayesu’s|
additional Ground of Appeal." Prosecution Response to the Motion to Rectify, para. 13. See also, TriaI Judgment~
para. 14.
674 The Appeals Chamber notes that the Prosecution submitted that it had stated in their response to the Preliminary
Motion, the facts regarding the motion they filed under Rule 40. The Prosecution submits that although the matter was
brought to the attention of the Trial Chamber, Akayesu could not rely on the Prosecution to bring up a ground of appeal
if, for its part, he has not in one way or the other at least put forward some arguments in support of this ground. The
Prosecution submits that Akayesu "cannot rely on the prosecutor bringing up an issue for his appeal if he has not, in
some way or other, at least made some arguments on that issue". T(A), 2 November 2000, p. 50. The Appeals
Chamber agrees that Akayesu cannot rely on the fact that the Prosecution had allegedly raised the issue before the Trial
Chamber and holds that, in any case, Akayesu failed to further develop the material within the context of arguments
worthy of the name. The Prosecution simply stated the information when it summarized the events.
675 See, question asked by Judge Shahabuddeen during the Hearing on Appeal, T(A), 1 November 2000, pp. 245

and 246 and 2 November 2000, pp. 73 to 78.
676 T(A), 2 November 2000, p. 74.
677 T(A), 2 November 2000, pp. 74 and 76 to 78: "The argument raised by Mr. Scheers did not explicitly deal with the
legality, whether there were 90 days in Rule 40 .... Mr. Scheers simply stated that it was illegal .... I recognise that
Mr. Scheers was not clear .... The Prosecutor was 
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months after he had been arrested and 
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were rendered and when Akayesu 
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391. The Appeals 
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396. Consequently, the Presiding Judge gave Akayesu the floor to present any likely mitigating
circumstances. However, Akayesu immediately began to repeat that his rights continued to be
violated since his former Counsel was no longer assisting him and he had been assigned a new
Counsel for the hearing.734 Here again, the Presiding Judge asked him several times whether or not
he wished to be represented by Counsel.735 Finally, Akayesu answered:

I think I will repeat, I am here for the sentencing and I don’t have counsel in these circumstances.TM

397. The Presiding Judge once again asked him: "[...] Do you not need any counsel?" Akayesu
said he did not, 737 then he presented his arguments regarding the sentence. 738 The Appeals
Chamber notes that twice during the said presentation, Akayesu mentioned, in passing, that he did
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counsel. The Appeals Chamber finds that Akayesu was offered assistance of counsel and positively
turned it down.

399. For the foregoing reasons, this sub-ground of appeal against sentence is rejected.

3. Second sub-ground of appeal against sentence

400. Akayesu alleges that on 2 October 1998 he was unlawfully deprived of 
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404. As indicated above, the Appeals Chamber has previously considered a similar situation in
Kambanda: in that case, the Appellant had practically put forward no argument at all in support of
his appeal against sentence. The Appeals Chamber found that:

In the case of errors of law, the arguments of the parties do not exhaust the subject. It is open to the
Appeals Chamber, as the final arbiter of the law of the Tribunal, 
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407. In the context of appeals lodged against sentence, ICTY Appeals Chamber has found that:

Trial Chambers exercise a considerable amount of discretion (although it is not unlimited) 
determining an appropriate sentencing. This is largely because of the overriding obligation to
individualise a penalty to fit the individual circumstances of the accused and the gravity of the crime.
To achieve this goal, Trial Chambers are obliged to consider both aggravating and mitigating
circumstances relating to an individual accused. 751

408. Given the "considerable amount of discretion" vested in the Trial Chamber, the question
arises as to what role the Appeals Chamber should play in the consideration of an appeal against
sentence, that is in the instant case, the penalty imposed by the Trial Chamber on Akayesu. In this
instance, this Appeals Chamber will follow the test which has recently been upheld by ICTY
Appeals Chamber as the appropriate test:

The Appeals Chamber reiterates that "the appeal process of the Intemational Tribunal is not designed for the
purpose of allowing parties to remedy their own failings or oversights during trial or sentencing." Appeal
proceedings are rather of a corrective nature and, [...] they do not amount to a trial de novo
[...].
The test to be applied in relation to the issue as to whether a sentence should be revised is that moist recently
confirmed in the Furundzija Appeal Judgment. Accordingly, as a general rule, the Appelas Cahmber will not
substitute its sentence for that of a Trial Chamber unless it believes that the Trial Chamber has committed an
error in exercising its discretion or has failed to follow applicable law." The Appeals Chamber will only
intervene if it finds that the error was "discernible." As long as a Trial Chamber does not venture outside its
"discretionary framework" in imposing sentence, the Appeals Chamber will not intervene. 752

409. Consequently, before the Appeals Chamber is able to revise a sentence or substitute its own
sentence for the one imposed by the Trial Chamber, it must be shown that the Trial Chamber
ventured outside 
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411. In the circumstances, the Appeals Chamber must now determine whether, in the instant
case, the Trial Chamber considered the relevant factors and took due account thereof. Failing
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415. Consequently, the Appeals Chamber finds that the Trial Chamber duly considered and took
into account the inherent gravity of the crimes Akayesu was convicted of and his degree of
responsibility therefor.

416. In considering the factors set out under Article 23(2) of the Statute and Rule 101(B) of 
Rules, the Trial Chamber submitted that "it is a matter, as it were, of individualizing the penalty."763
To the Trial Chamber this meant that "as far as the individualization of penalties is concerned, the
Judges cannot limit themselves to the factors mentioned in the Statute and the Rules. Here again
their unfettered discretion to evaluate the facts and attendant circumstances should enable them to
take into account any other factor they deem pertinent."764 The Appeals Chamber finds no policy
error in this finding. The fight to take into account other pertinent factors goes hand in hand with
the overriding obligation to individualize a penalty to fit the individual circumstances of the
accused, the overall scope of his guilt and the gravity of the crime the overriding consideration
being that the sentence to be imposed must reflect the totality of the accused’s criminal conduct.765
The Trial Chamber then turned its attention specifically to the mitigating and aggravating
circumstances and to the individual circumstances of the Accused. It recalled the mitigating
circumstances invoked by Akayesu during the pre-sentencing heating he3m230 50 Tz
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been shown.769 The question is whether there can be discerned in this instance an error such as
would warrant the Appeals Chamber intervening and substituting the sentence imposed by another
sentence. Akayesu was sentenced to a term of 10 years of imprisonment for torture, as a crime
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for under the applicable law of the State and if the President of the Tribunal, in consultation with
the judges, so decides (Article 27 of the Statute).

L. Finding on Akayesu’s Appeal

423. The Appeals Chamber has considered all the arguments put forward by Akayesu, both
separately and in conjunction with each other. The Appeals Chamber finds that Akayesu has failed
to show that the Trial Chamber committed any of the errors of fact and law as alleged.
Consequently, the Appeals Chamber holds that there is no need for it to consider the Other Issues
and the eighty Ground of Appeal. As explained above, Akayesu has failed to fully articulate his
grounds of appeal and he concedes that some of these grounds find no support in the evidence and
consist, rather, of groundless allegations. As a result, all the grounds of appeal raised in these
sections are rejected.

424. Lastly, since Akayesu neither explained nor even mentioned the other grounds of appeal set
out in his first and second Notices of Appeal, the Appeals Chamber finds that it must reject them
and therefore will not consider them.

IV. PROSECUTION’S GROUNDS OF APPEAL

First and Second Grounds 
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aberration" if an 



hostilities. Hence, the Prosecutor will have to demonstrate to the Chamber and prove that Akayesu was either
a member of the armed forces under the military command of either of the belligerent parties, or that he was
legitimately mandated and expected, as a public official or agent or person otherwise holding public authority
or de facto representing the Government, to support or fulfil the war efforts. Indeed, the Chamber recalls that
Article 4 of the Statute also applies to civilians.795

432. In the opinion of the Appeals Chamber, there is no doubt that the Trial Chamber applied the
public agent test in interpreting Article 4 of the Statute, to consider subsequently the particular
circumstances of Akayesu’s case. While pointing out that the Geneva Conventions and the
Protocols have an "overall protective and humanitarian purpose"796 and consequently, "the
delimitation of this category of persons bound by the provisions in Common Article 3 and
Additional Protocol II should not be too restricted",797 the Trial Chamber found that the category of
persons likely to be held responsible for violations of Article 4 of the Statute includes "only [...]
individuals of all ranks belonging to the armed forces under the military command of either of the
belligerent parties, or to individuals who were legitimately mandated and expected, as public
officials or agents or persons otherwise holding public authority or de facto 
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(d) The passing of sentences 
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- There must be a nexus between the violations and the armed conflict.s07

439. Although ICTY Appeals Chamber has, on several occasions, addressed the issue of the
interpretation of common Article 3, it should be noted that it has never found it necessary to

circumscribe the category of persons who may be prosecuted under Article 3. Therefore, no
clarification has to date been provided on this point in the jurisprudence of the Tribunals, except for
recent holdings by an ICTY Trial Chamber. The latter indeed found that "common Article 3 may
also require some relationship to exist between a perpetrator 
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different from the requirement that each enumerated crime be committed by a perpetrator who
discriminates against a particular victim on any of the specific specific 
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456.
that:

Murder must be committed as part of a widespread or systematic attack against a 
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(Persecutions), which reference is understood as a requirement of a discriminatory intent.s47 As 
known, one of the basic rules of interpretation requires that a provision or part thereof should not be
interpreted in a manner to render it redundant or bereft of any object, unless such a conclusion is
inevitable. One must proceed from the 





Page 141

Article 6(1) of the Statute (instigated) with Article 2(3)(c) of the Statute ([...] incitement 
genocide), the Trial Chamber found that "some people" contend [instigation must include direct
and public elements] adding that "it also accepts this interpretation". 86° In this holding, the Trial
Chamber refers to the opinion of certain experts ("some people"), by citing Morris and Scharf in 
footnote.

476. First and foremost, the Appeals Chamber considered the analysis made by Morris and
Scharf in their book. In the opinion of the Appeals Chamber, it could be said that in fact Morris
and Scharf only provided a general comparison of the approach followed by the Draft Code of
Crimes (and commentaries included therein) with the approach contained in the Statute, with
respect to individual criminal responsibility reg 100 Tz
(by ) Tj
100 Tth
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479. Furthermore, the Appeals Chamber is of the view that this interpretation is supported by
Article 2(3)(c) of the Statute, where the Security Council specifically chose the same wording 
that of the corresponding provision of the Convention on Genocide.868 Article 2(3)(c) reads:

The following acts shall be punishable:

E° , .]

(c) Direct and public incitement to commit genocide.869

480. With respect specifically to incitement to commit the crime of genocide, the Statute makes
clear that the act must be direct and public, which plainly excludes any other form of incitement to
commit genocide, including 
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For these reasons, The Appeals Chamber,

Considering Article 24 of the Statute and Rule 118 of the Rules,

Noting the respective written submissions of the parties and their oral arguments at the hearings of
1 and 2 November 2000,

Sitting in open court,

Unanimously dismmisses each of the grounds of appeal raised by Jean-Paul Akayesu,

Affirms the verdict of guilty entered against Jean-Paul Akayesu of all the counts on which he was
convicted and the sentence of l1e4eofimprins,nts  Tj
100 Tz
1 0 0 1 318 522 Tm
3 Tr 100 Tz
(l1hd ) 
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ANNEX A
PROCEEDINGS ON APPEALs71

A. Assignment of Counsel to Akayesu

484. As a result of certain issues that had arisen between Akayesu and Counsel assigned to
defend him at trial, and following the verdict rendered on 2 September 1998,872 Akayesu was left
without Counsel. On 20 January 1999, Akayesu filed a Motion for judicial review, in which he
requested the Appeals Chamber to rule inter alia "null and void and 
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488. The Appeals Chamber found that although there is no provision in the Directive on
Assignment of Defence Counsel for right of appeal against a decision by the Registrar not to assign
a specific counsel, such a right is necessary in order to ensure that the accused is effectively able to
exercise his rights under Article 20(4) of the Statute, and, indeed as recognized by ICTY in other
cases. The Appeals Chamber, considering that John Philpot’s name was included in the list of
Counsel eligible for assignment by the Registrar at the Appellant’s urgent request and, moreover,
that the Registrar had thus given the Appellant a legitimate hope that Mr. Philpot would be
assigned to defend him before the Tribunal, directed the Registrar to assign Mr. Philpot as Lead
Counsel with effect from 22 September 1998, when his name was included in the list of counsel
maintained by the Registry. The Appeals Chamber also decided to dismiss the petition by the
International Criminal Defence Attorneys Association to appear as amicus curiae.

489. Subsequently, the Registrar, by a decision dated 10 August 1999, withdrew the assignment
of Mr. Caldarera as Defence Counsel with effect from 27 July 1999.880

B. Background to the filings on appeal

1. Notices of appeal

490. Akayesu filed his first Notice of Appeal (a handwritten letter ) on 1 October 1998. His
second Notice of Appeal, prepared by his Counsel, was filed with the Registry on 2 October
1998.881 Akayesu filed his Notice of Appeal Against Sentence on 2 November 1998.882 In its
Decision of 24 May 2000 the Appeals Chamber granted Akayesu leave to include four additional
grounds in his Notice of Appeal relating to the admissibility of "hearsay" evidence, the refusal by
the Trial Chamber to permit Akayesu to ask leading questions during cross-examination, the
unlawful disclosure of Defence witness statements and an allegation concerning witness DAAX.
Akayesu was also allowed to amend the ground of appeal relating to out-of-court evidence. In its
Decision of 22 August 2000, the Appeals Chamber denied Akayesu leave to add further grounds of
appeal or to amend certain grounds of appeal already filed.ss3

491. On 2 October 1998, the Prosecution filed its Notice of Appeal setting out eight grounds of
appeal884 in which it requested the Appeals Chamber: (1) to quash the Trial Chamber’s verdict 
respect of Counts 6, 8, 10, 12 and 15 (acquittals under Article 4 of the Statute), and to substitute
verdicts of guilty for them; and (2) to quash the erroneous legal findings put forward in the Trial
Judgement. On 15 October 1999, the Prosecution filed a Notice Abandoning Ground 6885 while in

88o "Decision on Withdrawal of Barletta Caldarera as Counsel for Jean-Paul Akayesu, dated 10 August 1999 and filed

on 1 December 1999.
881 Notice of Appeal, filed on 2 October 1998. The Prosecution submitted that the Appeals Chamber must dismiss the

first Notice of Appeal and only take into account the second Notice of Appeal. Prosecution’s Response, paras. 1.33 to
1.38 (see with respect to this issue Akayesu’s Reply, para. 3). At the start of the hearing on appeal, the Appeals
Chamber dismissed the said argument. It found that although it had followed the grouping of Akayesu’s grounds of
appeal, as presented by him in his 
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the Prosecution’s Brief, it notified the Appeals Chamber that it no longer wished to proceed on
Ground 4.886 The Prosecution submitted that Ground I "does not as such constitute a ground of
appeal, but rather intends to group Grounds 2 to 4" ss7 and that it did not request that any further
grounds be included under Ground 8.88s

2. Filings

492. Following the filing by the parties of their respective notices of appeal, the issue of the
assignment of Counsel to Akayesu arose. The Appeals Chamber ruled on the issue in its Decision
of 27 July 1999 discussed above and, at the same time, issued a briefing schedule. The Appeals
Chamber ordered that the parties must file their Appellant’s Briefs by 25 October 1999, their
Respondent’s Briefs by 22 November 1999 and the Briefs in Reply by 6 December 1999.889

493. On 21 October 1999, the Appeals Chamber suspended the above time-limits pending a
ruling on various motions filed by Akayesu on, inter alia, alleged errors in the composition of the
trial record.sg0 







Consolidated Motion on 2 June (’the Second Consolidated Motion")91~ and the Prosecution filed its
Response thereto on 12 June 2000.912 The Appeals Chamber rendered a Decision on the Second
Consolidated Motion on 22 August 2000 ("the Decision of 22 August 2000") 913 In said Decision,
the Appeals Chamber dismissed Akayesu’s Request for Leave to Amend his Notices of Appeal and
for Admission of New Evidence on Appeal.

503. Akayesu filed several other motions which were addressed neither in the Decision of
24 May 2000 nor in the Decision of 22 August 2000, including a Motion to set a date 
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was late and that such a postponement was unnecessary. On 1 November 2000, the Appeals
Chamber denied the motion at the start of the heating on appeal and proceeded with the hearing.919

505. Lastly, Akayesu filed two motions during the judges’ deliberations following the hearing on

appeal.

506. In his first motion, Akayesu sought translation of his Brief and Reply.920 The Prosecution
responded on 16 March 2001921 and Akayesu filed a reply on 21 March 2001.922 The Appeals
Chamber rendered a decision on 29 March 2001 in which it stated that "it is imperative, for the

proper administration of justice and for equality of treatment of the parties, that 
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for leave to present new evidence on appeal, such an application must be dismissed since the
requirements of Rule 115 of the Rules are not met in the instant case.9z9

F. Motions filed by the Prosecution

509. On 13 March 2000, the Prosecution filed the "Prosecutor’s urgent motion for protection of
witnesses", following a motion filed by Akayesu which included a document930 disclosing the
names of 12 witnesses, some of whom were covered by witness protection orders made during the
trial. The Appeals Chamber ordered, inter alia, that a redacted version of the document in question
be prepared and that the identity of all protected witnesses not be disclosed to any member of the

public or to any other person not involved in this appeal.931

510. On 31 May 2000, the Prosecution filed a motion for admission as new evidence,932 of certain
material extracted from the transcripts of the Georges Rutaganda case. Akayesu responded thereto

on 16 June 2000, stating that he saw no problem.933 By a decision dated 12 July 2000, the Appeals
Chamber admitted the transcripts in question as 
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ANNEX B
AKAYESU’S GROUNDS OF APPEAL935

A. First Ground of Appeal: Akayesu was denied the right to be defended by Counsel of his
choice

First notice of appeal

The Accused was deprived of the choice of counsel from January 1998 when his trial
opened. The Prosecution, in the person of Sarah Dareshori who was prosecuting the case, made
public pronouncements about this in the New York Times. Proof thereof will be provided. (made
available).936

The Accused was forced to accept Patrice Month6 and Nicholas Tiangaye whom he had
earlier turned down. They were solely the choice of the Registrar.937

Disclosure was inadequate because the Prosecutor supplied names of witnesses too late,
thereby impeding the preparation of a full answer and defence.938

At some stages in the proceedings, the Accused was forced to defend himself since no
counsel of his choice was assigned to him in spite of his requests.939

Second Notice of appeal

(a) The Court and the Registrar deprived the Appellant of the right to choose his Defence
Counsel. He could not have his first choice, Johan Scheers because of Andronico Adede, the
former Registrar dismissed for his incompetence and Prisca Nyambe who worked for the
Registrar’s Office. On 31 October 1996, Michael Karnavas, Mr. Scheers’ assistant who had
contacted Scheers in Belgium, illegally coerced the Appellant to "choose" him as 
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subsequently assigned by the Registrar. This is an error in law that goes to jurisdiction causing
irreparable prejudice to the Appellant. The Appellant will show proof of this violation of his
fundamental right and of its con4n30100 Tz
(prejudice ) T Tr 100 Tz
(violation ) Tj
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(i) The two attorneys assigned to defend him at the beginning of the trial had no choice
but to ask for a postponement. They did not know the Accused, were not apprised of the evidence
and could not defend the Accused adequately. For a fair defence, an accused person must be able
to exchange and discuss the issues of the trial with his Counsel, 
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(viii) The attorneys did not ask the Appellant to testify to counter specific allegations of several
witnesses thereby committing an error in Common Law.945

In its haste to end the trial, the Court deprived the Appellant of his right to full answer and
defence by illegally refusing the 
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(g) The members of the Court are not neutral. Judge La’fty Kama has behaved in 
highly partisan manner. He sees his mission as one of punishing the authors of "genocide". He
made public statements on several occasions about the collective guilt of the prisoners such as the
arrest of "big 

(g) (g)  
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Furthermore, there is no agreement with countries such as Kenya so that potential witnesses can
return there after testifying. Many of such witnesses are illegal residents of Kenya. Several
witnesses for the Appellant are afraid and did not testify. The only remedy is to order a stay of
proceedings.

(m) The Court is not functional, lacking a subpoena power, a power to force the
appearance of witnesses. The only real power of constraint held by the Court is its power - legally
dubious at that- to force the arrest of a suspect in a third country and his/her transfer -also probably
illegal- to the seat of the Tribunal in Arusha. This power imbalance-a real power to arrest accused
wherever they are as opposed to the absence of a power to force the attendance 
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The Chamber, composed of Judge La’fty Kama, Judge Navanethem Pillay, Judge Lennart
Aspegren, accepted an amendment to the indictment, thereupon adding the crimes of rape, at the
behest of the Prosecutor, on a third party. Logically, these judges should have stood down, yet they
are the same who constituted the bench that tried the Accused contrary to established general

principles of law.953

Second notice of appeal

On 17 June 1997, the Tribunal erred in law in allowing the amendment of the indictment to

include three new counts of sexual violence.954

2. Second sub-ground: unlawful use of prior statements

First notice of appeal

Disclosure was inadequate because the Prosecutor supplied names of witnesses too late,

thereby impeding the preparation of a full answer and defence.955

Second notice of appeal

The Court erred in taking collective blanket decision to consider as more truthful the
witness statements before the Court as opposed to their prior out-of-court statements. Whenever
there is divergence between a statement made in court and one made out of court, the Court must
consider on an individual basis-witness by witness and statement by statement - the divergences
between the out- of- court statement and the statement in Court. In taking a blanket decision, the
Court violated the presumption of innocence and favoured unduly Prosecution witnesses thereby
causing a miscarriage of justice:6

° Third sub-ground: the non-application of the criteria of reasonable doubt, errors of fact

First notice of appeal

In its judgement, the Trial Chamber drew fallacious conclusions as a result of its poor
knowledge of the geography of Taba commune. Furthermore, it did not take into consideration the
discrepancies in the timetable of the Accused contained in the accounts of Prosecution witnesses.957

The Chamber based its judgement solely on the testimonies of Prosecution witnesses,
having dismissed beforehand the testimonies of Defence witnesses. This will be amply
demonstrated.958

The Chamber often attributed probative value to irrelevant testimony:9

953Ground 37.
954Ground 4(t).
955Ground 33.
956 Ground 4(bb).

957 Ground 2.

958 Ground 3.
959 Ground 4.



The Chamber did not take into account serious contradictions in the testimony of
Prosecution witnesses.960

The Chamber contradicted itself on many points of fact.961

In Canada, Judge Navanethem Pillay of Trial Chamber I made public pronouncements on
the credibility of Prosecution witnesses even before the Defence had presented its evidence, thereby
demonstrating her flagrant partiality.962

In New York, Judge La’fty Kama, for his part, publicly admitted that there was evidence of
rape prior to the presentation of evidence by the Defence, and equally demonstrating his
prejudgrnent.963

The Chamber dismissed without any valid grounds 
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5. Other issues

(a) Judicial notice of United Nations investigation reports

Second notice of appeal

The Court erred in deciding that it could take judicial notice of some reports the contents of

which are contested by the Appellant.968

(b) Interpretation

First notice of appeal

The Chamber used the services of an interpreter, a member of ARFM, to interpret the
testimony of women who had come to testify on rape, whereas the said interpreter had just
organized demonstrations in Kigali against sexual assault. ARFM is the association of Rwandan
Media Women, well known for their political activities, and backed by the Tutsi regime in Kigali.969

(c) Inaccurate transcripts

First notice of appeal

The Appellant notes that the transcripts of his trial are not accurate and are not in
conformity with the cassettes of the hearings, which prevented him from preparing his defence as
he would have liked t0.970

Second notice of appeal

The Appellant notes that, according to preliminary information, the transcripts of his trial
are not accurate and in conformity with audio tape recordings of the hearings and that important
points are missing.971

(d) Disclosure of evidence

Second Notice of appeal

The disclosure was inadequate because the prosecution provided witness names too late
thereby preventing the preparation of a full defence. Not all statements were disclosed. The
Prosecutor had about 90 hours of video or sound recordings of declarations of Jean Kambanda
con
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Canadian policeman Pierre Duclos. The Appellant requests the Appeals Chamber of this Court to

order disclosure.972
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Second notice of appeal

On at least one occasion, a member of the Tribunal, Judge Aspegren, continued asking
questions to a witness while the Appellant was speaking with his lawyer causing a serious prejudice
to the Appellant.97s

E. Fifth ground of appeal: Total absence of the rule of law

The Court was formed to bring the Rule of law to Rwanda and to end a so-called "culture of
impunity". Since 1994, impunity is the rule for the new murderous dictators of Rwanda concerning
their acts in Rwanda, in the east of Congo-Zaire from late 1996, 1997 and through 1998. The
Prosecutor, Appeal Justice Louise Arbour from Canada hired a Canadian policeman, Pierre Duclos,
known for fabricating false evidence in the Matticks affair. Duclos was assigned to "handle"
former Prime Minister Jean Kambanda. The behaviour of the Court and its administration and the
systematic violation of the Appellant’s fundamental rights as described in this notice of appeal
would not be acceptable in Canada and in the Court of Appeal of Ontario from which the Appeal
Justice Louise Arbour received leave to work as Chief Prosecutor for this Court. The Appellant has
the right to recover his human dignity and his freedom.979

F. Sixth ground of appeal: Improper hearsay evidence

First notice of appeal

In rendering its judgement, the Chamber lent credence to hearsay.980

The Chamber lent credence to circumstantial evidence not supported by any real evidence.981

Added to the Decision of 24 May 2000

The Tribunal acted unlawfully by admitting without verifying the credibility of hearsay
evidence thereby violating Sub-Rule 89 (C) of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence and
disregarding the Judgement rendered in the Prosecutor v. Tadic.

G. Seventh Ground of Appeal: Irregularities in the examination and cross-examination

First Notice of Appeal

The Chamber refuted the manner in which Counsel cross-examined Defence witnesses,
whereas the Prosecution had recourse, albeit unperturbed, to the same methods in respect of
Prosecution witness.982

978Ground 4(aa).
979Part V (para. ee).
980Ground 10.
981Ground 11.
982Ground 1.



The Accused was deprived of his right to cross-examine witnesses.983

Added in the Decision of 24 May 2000

At the beginning of the trial, at the hearing of 15 January 1997, Presiding Judge La’fty
Kama did not allow the Accused to ask leading questions in 



CaseNo



It is impossible to challenge the DAAX type of testimony, despite the considerable and irreparable
prejudice caused, particularly on account of its concealment, its new and unexpected accusations
(unconnected with evidence in open court) and the insinuations, opinions and condemnations
conveyed therein;

Private communication between a witness, particularly a Government sponsored witness, and the
Chamber is inadmissible evidence in all properly constituted legal systems and violates the
fundamental principle of mandatory public hearings in criminal matters;

In the instant, there was moreover a violation of the principle of:

Public trial proceedings, and

The right to a fair and open trial,
as set forth under Rules 78 and 80 of the Rules of Procedure and
Evidence and upheld by Common Law.
Scott et al. v. Scott, [1913] A.C. 417, 463 (H.L)
McPherson v. McPherson, [19361 A. C. 177 (P.C.P)
Addis v. Crocker et aL, [19601 3 Weekly Law Reports 339, 345 and 346
(C. A. England)

The Appellant was denied his right to cross-examine the witness which is a "constitutional error of
the first magnitude", see Davis v. Alaska, ruling of the Supreme Court of the United States as cited
in the United States vs. Baglev 473 U. S. 667, 105 S. Ct. 3375.87 L. Ed 481 (1985), and there has
been an offence against fundamental standards of a fair trial under any criminal law system : see, in
particular, the opinion of Judge White in Duncan vs. Louisiana, 391 U. S. 145, 88 S. Ct. 1444, 20

L. Ed. 491 (1968).

Counsel for Defence were deficient and negligent and deprived the accused of his right to complete
answer and defence and a fair trial. The devastating effect on the rights of the Appellant caused by
the comments, insinuations and questioned voiced by DAAX, particularly in the private
communication with the Judges, should have called for energetic and vigorous measures for
protection and restoration of those rights. There was failure to take such measures and that
negligence led to a "miscarriage of justice", which could have been avoided by Counsel totally
committed to the cause of the Accused.

As we will show, analysis of the principle legal systems indicates that an incompetent defence of
the accused makes the trial unfair and results in a miscarriage of justice. We note that precedent on
the issue of incompetence of Defence Counsel is scanty because accused have in general, been
represented by Counsel of their choice with whom they maintain harmonious relations. As the
Accused was deprived of that right and was not afforded the vigorous, effective and independent
defence he had expected, defence incompetence provides serious grounds for retrial.

The Appellant submits that the verdict could have been a different one hations. the incompetent 

totally
will 

answer 

Accused.Law.Law.

in 

: results 
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984proposed Ground of Appeal (Decision of 22 August 2000)

The Prosecutor detained the Appellant unlawfully on 22 November 1995, until his
appearance on 30 May 1996. He was deprived of his fight to know the cause for his detention. The
Appellant himself and through his Counsel Johan Scheers complained about his unlawful
detention.

K. Eleventh Ground of Appeal : Appeal Against Sentencing Judgment984

1. of 
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Notice of Appeal Against Sentence

Akayesu’ s Brief

Prosecution’s Response

Akayesu’s Reply

Notice of 1 12 Tf
1 0 0 1 68 520 100164 41ppeal

of 

s 

Prosecution’s Prosecution’s 

Filings 

n1 12 Tf
1 0 0 1 68 54455
151 0 0 1 461 801 Tm21 12 Tf
1 0 0 1 68 54465
151 0 0 1 461 801 TmOctober

F

i

l

i

n

g

s

 

o

f

 

F

i

l

i

n

g

s

 

n1 12 Tf
1 0 0 1 68 54456z48320 T 1 461 801 Tm71 12 Tf
1 0 0 1 68 54465
48320 T 1 461 801 TmJuly1 12 Tf
1 0 0 1 68 54489
48320 T 1 461 801 Tm2000ean-Paul Pdr 11 12 Tf
1 0 0 1 68 544494456z0 TReplyn1 12 Tf
1 0 0 1 68 54499z41420 T 1 461 801 Tm19ean-Paul of par151434645 T 1 461 801 Tm
3z
/F1 12 Tf
1 0 0 1 68 52
86434645 T 1 461 801 Tm(Filings ) Tj
100 Tz
/F400434645 T 1 461 801 TmTm
3 T,n1 12 Tf
1 0 0 1 68 54485z34645 T 1 461 801 Tm21 12 Tf
1 0 0 1 68 54495z34645 T 1 461 801 TmOctoberpar024z3 645 T 1 461 801 Tm
3z
/F1 12 Tf
1 0 0 1 68 52
T9z3 645 T 1 461 801 Tmabandonz
(1 12 Tf
1 0 0 1 68 5241423 645 T 1 461 801 TmGrou/F1 12 Tf
1 0 0 1 68 5445023 645 T 1 461 801 Tmsix1 12 Tf
1 0 0 1 68 5447043 645 T 1 461 801 Tm(6100 Tz
(Page ) Tj
100 T49043 645 T 1 461 801 Tm(Filings ) Tj
100 Tz
/F5 Tm01645 T 1 461 801 TmTm
ean-Paul ) Tj
100 Tz
1 0 0 1 3024230545 Tm
3 Tr 100 Tz
(par024z3085 TmReply) Tj
100 Tz
/F1 12 Tf
1 0 0 1 70 343 Tm
1 394z3085 TmReply

Jean-77 139 Tj
100 Tz
/F1 12(At372ne465
48320 T 1 461 801 T06 139 Tj
100 Tz
/F1 12General)94456z0 TReply





Celebici Judgement

Decision of 17 April 2000

Decision of 24 May 2000

Decision of 22 August 2000

Erdemovic Appeal Judgement

Eur Ct HR

European Convention on Human Rights

Furundzija Appeal Judgement

First Erdemovic Sentencing Judgement

Geneva Convention IV

Hearings on Appeal

Initial Indictment

Indictment

The Prosecutor v. Zejnil Delalic et aL, Case
No. IT-96-21-A, Judgement, 16 November
1998.

Decision (Requests 1 and 7 of M~moire de
l’Appelant concernant les Requetes suivantes
vis~es par ordonnance comportant calendrier
du 30 novembre 1999 (regarding record on
appeal), rendered on 17 April 2000

Decision (Concerning Motions 2, 3,4, 5, 6 and
8 Appellant’s Brief Relative to the following
Motions Referred to by the Order dated
30 November 1999), rendered on 24 May 2000

Decision (on the Consolidation or
Summarization of Motions not yet Disposed
of), rendered on 22 August 2000

The Prosecutor v. Drazen Erdemovic , Case
No. IT-96-22-A, Judgement, 7 October 1997
(Appeals Chamber of ICTY)

European Court of Human Rights

European Convention for the Protection of
Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms
signed in Rome on 4 November 1950

The Prosecutor v. Anto Furundzija, Case No.
IT-95-17/1-A, Judgement, 21 July 2000
(Appeals Chamber of ICTY)

The Prosecutor v. Drazen Erdemovic, Case
No. IT-96-22-T, 29 November 1996 (ICTY
Trial Chamber)

Geneva Convention Relative to the Protection
of Civilian Persons in Time of War of 12
August 1949

Hearings on oral arguments of the parties on
appeal, 2 November 2000

Indictment in The Prosecutor v. Jean-Paul

Akayesu, Case No. ICTR-96-4-T, as confirmed
on 16 February 1996

Indictment in The Prosecutor v. Jean-Paul

Akayesu, Case No. ICTR-96-4-T, as amended
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ILC

ICJ

ICRC Commentary

ICRC Commentary on the Additional Protocol

ICCPR [Intemational Covenant]

ICTY

The Intemational Tribunal or the Tribunal

Kambanda Appeal Judgement

Kambanda Judgement

Kayishema/Ruzindana Judgement

Kunarac Judgement

by Trial Chamber I on 17 June 1997

Report of the Intemational Law Commission,
48th session, 6 May-26 July 1996, UNGA, 51 st
Session, Supplement No. 10 (A/51/10)

Intemational Court of Justice
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Kupreskic Judgement

Musema Judgement

Prosecution

Rutaganda Judgement

Report of the Secretary-General

Rules

Resolution 955

Rome Statute

Serushago Sentencing Appeal Judgement

Sentence

Second Erdemovic Sentencing Judgement

Statute

Tadic Appeal Judgement

22 February 2001 (ICTY Trial Chamber)

Prosecutr v. Zoran Kupreskic et al., Case No.
IT-95-16 T, Judgement, 4 January 2000
(ICTY Trial Chamber)

The Prosecutor v. Alfred Musema, Case No.
ICTR-96-13-T, Judgement and Sentence, 27
January 2000 (Trial Chamber)

Office of the Prosecutor

The Prosecutor v. Georges Anderson
Nderubumwe Rutaganda, Case No. ICTR-96-
3-T Judgement and Sentence, 6 December
1999 (Trial Chamber)
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Tadic Jurisdiction Decision

Tadic Sentencing Appeal Judgement

Trial Chamber

T

T (A)

Tadic Additional Evidence Decision

Trial Judgement

Prosecutor v. Dusko Tadic, Case No. IT-94-1-
AR72, Decision on the Defence Motion for
Interlocutory Appeal on Jurisdiction,
2 October 1995 (ICTY Appeals Chamber)

Prosecutor v. Dusko Tadic, Case No. IT-94-1-A, and IT-94-1-Abis’ Judgement in Sentencing

Appeals, 26 January 2000 (ICTY Appeals
Chamber)

Trial Chamber I of the International Tribunal

Transcripts of Trial proceedings in The
Prosecutor v. Jean-Paul Akayesu, Case No.
ICTR-96-4-T. All page numbers referred to in
this Judgement are those of the French
unofficial and uncorrected version. Therefore,
there could be some disparities in the page

Akayesu, 

Transcripts 
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